


COMPANY
PROFILE

Lorenzo International Limited (the “Company” or 
“Lorenzo”), with a history dating back to 1983, is 
a branded lifestyle furniture retailer. Committed 
to upholding its traditional heritage of quality 
and excellence, the Company and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) control all aspects of its business 
through vertical integration, including the design, 
manufacture, assembly and distribution of its 
conceptualised furniture. The Group builds on its 
standing as a leading consumer brand by establishing 
brand presence through wholly-owned stores and 
Licensed Retailing System (”LRS”) stores across the 
world.

Lorenzo sells most of its products under the Lorenzo 
brand name grouped under two main collections - 
Dante for classic leather sofas and Enzo for wood-
based products. The Enzo series of products includes 
furniture for the living room, dining room and 
bedroom.
 
Attesting to its promise of excellence, Lorenzo also 
acts as an Original Design Manufacturer to design 
and manufacture furniture under customers’ designs, 
as well as an Original Equipment Manufacturer to 
manufacture based on customers’ brands. 

The Group delivers the ultimate living experience 
by offering exquisite, high quality building materials 
to accompany well-designed furniture, creating and 
enhancing living concepts for every home.
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To be the leading lifestyle 
furniture provider enhancing 

living concepts for every home.

To provide comfort in style through 
constant innovation and product 
development to our customers.

VISION

MISSION

























Board of Directors Audit Committee Remuneration 
Committee

Nominating 
Committee

Director No. of 
Meetings

Attendance No. of 
Meetings

Attendance No. of 
Meetings

Attendance No. of 
Meetings

Attendance

Yeow See Onn(ii) 1 N.A. 1 N.A. 1 N.A. 1 N.A.
Lim Pang Hern 1 1 1 N.A. 1 N.A. 1 1
Ding Lei 1 1 1 N.A. 1 N.A. 1 1
Marcelo Mora 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Jimmy Soh King Bin(iii) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Soh Chun Bin(iv) 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1









Name of Directors Appointment Date of Initial Appointment Date of Last Re-election/ 
Re-appointment

Ding Lei Executive Director/ 
Chairman 

20 January 2017 25 October 2017

Lim Pang Hern Executive Director 6 March 2015 31 December 2018
Jimmy Soh King Bin Independent Director 18 January 2019 -
Marcelo Mora Independent Director 23 January 2017 25 October 2017
Soh Chun Bin Independent Director 18 January 2019 -



Name of Directors Present Directorship In Listed Companies Past Directorship In Listed Companies
Ding Lei Bisan Limited -
Lim Pang Hern GPS Alliance Holdings Limited -
Jimmy Soh King Bin - -
Marcelo Mora GPS Alliance Holdings Limited -
Soh Chun Bin Geo Energy Resources Limited

ISOTeam Ltd.
Triyards Holdings Limited

Chosen Holdings Limited









Name Of Key Management 
Personnel(a)

Fees
S$‘000

Salary
S$‘000

Bonus
S$‘000

Benefits-In-Kind
S$‘000

Allowances
S$‘000

Total
S$‘000

Teo Kok Meng(b) - 102 - 10 - 112
Chung Kim Yew(c) - - - 40 - 40

Name Of Directors(1) Fees
S$‘000

Salary
S$‘000

Bonus
S$‘000

Benefits-In-Kind
S$‘000

Allowances
S$‘000

Total
S$‘000

Ding Lei - 144 - - - 144
Lim Pang Hern - 132 - 9 - 141
Jimmy Soh King Bin 8.5 - - - - 8.5
Marcelo Mora 38 - - - - 38
Soh Chun Bin 8.5 - - - - 8.5
Yeow See Onn(2) 32 - - - - 32





















Aggregate value of all interested person transactions 
during the period under review (excluding 
transactions less than S$100,000 and transactions 
under shareholders’ mandate pursuant to Rule 920 

of the Listing Manual)
31 March 2019

S$’000
31 March 2018

S$’000
Sales to a firm of which a director of the Company is a 
member

- -

Purchases from a firm of which a director of the 
Company is a member

- -

Expenses charged by a firm of which a director of the 
Company is a member

- -

In addition, the Group had entered into the following transactions which come under the exception under Rule 
916 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual

Rental expenses paid and payable to a firm of which a 
director of the Company is a member

- 1,233

Rental expenses in relation to prior years paid and 
payable to a firm of which a director of the Company is 
a member

- 655













Description Notes and Reference
Reporting period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 
Date of most recent previous report 27 March 2019
Reporting cycle Annual
Contact point corporate@lorenzo-international.com
Reporting framework and source of reference This Report is prepared with reference to the Global 

Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) Standards: Core option and 
its reporting principles. This Report covers all primary 
components as stipulated in SGX-ST Mainboard Listing 
Rule 711B.

GRI reporting framework is adopted by our Group 
for its robust regime and detailed guidance which 
offers an internationally-recognised benchmark for 
the disclosure of governance approaches and of the 
environmental, social and economic performance and 
impacts of organisations.

Report boundary Unless otherwise stated, the information provided in 
this Report focuses on the sustainability performance 
of the Company and our subsidiaries in FY2019.

External assurance We have not sought external assurance for FY2019, but 
may consider doing so in the future.



Stakeholder Group Engagement activities Key concerns
Customers •	 Daily interactions

•	 Enquiry and feedback channels
•	 Customer survey

•	 Good product quality
•	 Timely delivery of goods 
•	 Top notch customer service
•	 Cost-competitiveness

Employees •	 Annual employee performance 
appraisal

•	 Regular team meeting
•	 Staff communication sessions
•	 Internal newsletters 

•	 Staff rights and welfare
•	 Good working environment
•	 Personal development 

Investors •	 Regular investor meetings, 
board meetings 

•	 Annual and interim reports
•	 Circulars to shareholders

•	 Profitability
•	 Transparency
•	 Timely reporting

Business Partners •	 Frequent discussions and 
meetings

•	 Partnership for opportunities and 
growth 

Suppliers •	 Periodic supplier evaluation
•	 Comparison of quotes
•	 Periodic discussions

•	 Compliance with terms and 
conditions of purchasing policies 
and procedures

•	 Maintenance of ethical standards
Government and Regulations •	 Discussions with government 

agencies and departments
•	 Compliance with regulations
•	 Timely reporting and resolution of 

issues







FY2019 FY2018
Number of  male employees in the Group 170 193
Number of  female employees in the Group 143 144
Total number of employees in the Group 313 337

FY2019 FY2018
Number of  male employees in the Management Team 19 23
Number of  female employees in the Management Team 26 27
Total number of employees in the Management Team 45 50

FY2019 FY2018
Number of employees (< 30 years old) in the Group 57 60
Number of  employees (30 – 50 years old) in the Group 207 232
Number of employees (> 50 years old) in the Group 49 45
Total number of employees in the Group 313 337





GRI Standard and Disclosure Page Reference And Reasons
For Omission, If Applicable

General Disclosure
102-1 Name of the organisation 33
102-2 Activities, brands, products, and services 2, 34
102-3 Location of headquarters 34
102-4 Location of operations 34
102-5 Ownership and legal form 34
102-6 Markets served 34
102-7 Scale of the organisation 34

Annual Report 2019 – Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income

102-8 Information on employees and other workers 34
102-9 Supply chain 35
102-10 Significant changes to the organisation and its supply chain Nil
102-11 Precautionary principle or approach 2, 34, 35
102-12 External initiatives 36

102-13 Membership of associations Not applicable
Strategy
102-14 Statement from senior decision maker 33
Ethics And Integrity
102-16 Values, principles, standards, and norms of behaviour 35
Governance
102-18 Governance structure 36
Stakeholder Engagement
102-40 List of stakeholder groups 38
102-41 Collective bargaining agreements Not applicable
102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders 38
102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement 38
102-44 Key topics and concerns raised 38
Reporting Practice
102-45 Entities included in the consolidated financial statements 35
102-46 Defining report content and topic boundaries 37
102-47 List of material topics 39
102-48 Restatements of information Not applicable



GRI Standard and Disclosure Page Reference And Reasons
For Omission, If Applicable

Reporting Practice
102-49 Changes in reporting Not applicable
102-50 Reporting period 37
102-51 Date of most recent report 27 March 2019
102-52 Reporting cycle 37
102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the report 37
102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance with the GRI Standards 37
102-55 GRI content index 43, 44
102-56 External assurance 37
103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its boundaries 39-42
103-2 The management approach and its components 39-42
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 39-42
205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken 40

307-1 Non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations 42
405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees 41
419-1 Non-compliance with laws and regulations in the social and     
         economic area

40
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Lorenzo International Limited and its subsidiaries 1 

Directors' statement 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
We submit this statement to the members of the Company together with the audited financial statements for 
the financial year ended 31 March 2019. 

In our opinion, 

(a) the accompanying financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the
Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and
of the Company as at 31 March 2019 and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash
flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of
the Singapore Companies Act, Cap 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards;
and

(b) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group and the
Company will be able to continue operations and meet their liabilities as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue. 

Names of directors 
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are: 

Lim Pang Hern  
Ding Lei  
Marcelo Mora (Independent director)  
Soh King Bin, Jimmy (Independent director) (appointed on 18 January 2019) 
Soh Chun Bin (Independent director) (appointed on 18 January 2019) 

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures 
According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Act, particulars of 
interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year (including those of their spouses and 
infant children) in shares, debentures, warrants and share options in the Company and in related 
corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) are as follows: 

Holdings in which
Holdings registered director is deemed

in the name of director to have an interest

As at As at
31.3.2019 31.3.2019

As at and As at and
The Company - 1.4.2018 21.4.2019 1.4.2018 21.4.2019
Lorenzo International Limited Number of ordinary shares

Lim Pang Hern 1 959,500 959,500 45,579,800 45,579,800
Ding Lei 125,600,000 125,600,000 - -

DIRECTORS’
STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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Lorenzo International Limited and its subsidiaries 2 
Directors’ statement for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 

 

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures (Cont’d) 
 
Note: 
1. Mr Lim Pang Hern is deemed to be interested in shares held by BD Corporate Pte. Ltd.  
 
 
Share options  
No options were granted during the financial year to take up unissued shares of the Company or of its 
subsidiaries. 
 
No shares were issued during the financial year to which this report relates by virtue of the exercise of 
options to take up unissued shares of the Company or of its subsidiaries. 
 
There were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under option at the end of the financial 
year. 
 
 
Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises the following three members all of whom are independent. 
 
Soh King Bin, Jimmy (Chairman) 
Marcelo Mora  
Soh Chun Bin 
 
In accordance with Code of Corporate Governance 2012 Guideline 12.1, “the AC should comprise at least 
three directors, the majority of whom, including the AC Chairman, should be independent. All of the 
members of the AC should be non-executive directors.”  
 
The AC comprises entirely of all independent and non-executive directors and complied with guideline 12.1 
of Code of Corporate Governance. 
  
The AC performs the functions set out in Section 201B(5) of the Act, the Listing Manual of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX Listing Manual”) and the Code of Corporate Governance. In 
performing those functions, the AC reviewed the following: 
 

(i) overall scope of both the internal and external audits and the assistance given by the Company’s 
officers to the auditors. It met with the Company’s internal and external auditors to discuss the 
results of their examinations and their evaluation of the Company’s system of internal accounting 
controls; 

 
(ii) the audit plan of the Company’s independent auditor and any recommendations on internal 

accounting controls arising from the statutory audit; 
 
(iii) the half yearly financial information and the statement of financial position of the Company and the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 as well 
as the auditor’s report thereon; 

DIRECTORS’
STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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Lorenzo International Limited and its subsidiaries 3 
Directors’ statement for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 

Audit Committee (Cont’d) 
(iv) effectiveness of the Company’s material internal controls, including financial, operational,

compliance controls, information technology controls and risk management via reviews carried out
by the internal auditors;

(v) met with the external auditor, other committees, and management in separate executive sessions to
discuss any matters that these groups believe should be discussed privately with the AC;

(vi) reviewed legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements,
related compliance policies and programmes and any reports received from regulators;

(vii) reviewed the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditor;

(viii) reviewed the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditor;

(ix) recommended to the board of directors the external auditor to be nominated, approved the
compensation of the external auditor, and reviewed the scope and results of the audit;

(x) reported actions and minutes of the AC to the board of directors with such recommendations as the
AC considered appropriate; and

(xi) interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the SGX Listing Manual).

The AC has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been given the resources 
required for it to discharge its function properly. It also has full discretion to invite any Director or executive 
officer to attend its meetings. The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the AC. 

The AC is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditor and has recommended to 
the Board of Directors that the auditor, Foo Kon Tan LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as auditor at 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.  

Independent auditor 
The independent auditor, Foo Kon Tan LLP, Chartered Accountants, has expressed its willingness to accept 
re-appointment. 

On behalf of the Directors 

.................................................................. 
SOH KING BIN, JIMMY 

.................................................................. 
LIM PANG HERN 

Dated: 22 January 2020 

DIRECTORS’
STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of 
Lorenzo International Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Disclaimer of Opinion 

We were engaged to audit the financial statements of Lorenzo International Limited (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and 
the Company as at 31 March 2019, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then 
ended, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

We do not express an opinion on the accompanying financial statements. Because of the significance of 
the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able 
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these financial 
statements.   

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion 

(1) Appropriateness of going concern assumption

As discussed in Note 2(a) to the financial statements, as at 31 March 2019, the Group had negative equity 
of $7,330,087 and net current liabilities of $20,200,398 while the Company had deficit in equity of 
$2,148,576 and net current liabilities of $2,164,406. For the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the 
Group incurred a loss after tax of $5,827,604 and a total comprehensive loss of $5,781,182, and the 
Group had sustained net operating cash outflows of $6,450,102. 

The matters set out above and in Note 2(a) to the financial statements indicate the existence of a material 
uncertainty which cast a significant doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern.  Some of the Group’s financing arrangements had expired and the amounts outstanding 
were payable on 30 September 2016 and 31 December 2016.  At the reporting date, no letter of extension 
on the repayment dates for these outstanding loans and borrowings at year end amounting to $5,510,045 
was obtained from the banks. The management did not prepare cash flow projection to assess the going 
concern assumption.  

If the Group and Company are unable to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, the 
Group and Company may be unable to discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business and 
adjustments may have to be made to reflect the situation that assets may need to be realised other than in 
the normal course of business and at amounts which may differ significantly from the amounts at which 
they are currently recorded in the statements of financial position.  In addition, the Group and Company 
may have to provide for further liabilities that may arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities 
as current assets and liabilities.  No such adjustments have been made to these financial statements.   

We are not able to form an opinion as to whether the going concern basis of presentation of the 
accompanying financial statements of the Group and the Company is appropriate. 

The auditor’s report dated 30 November 2018 for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 included a 
similar qualification on this matter. 

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF LORENZO INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of 
Lorenzo International Limited (Cont’d) 

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Cont’d) 

(2) Recoverability of amounts due from subsidiaries

The carrying values of amounts due from subsidiaries at the Company level amounted to $1,058,290 
(Note 9) as at 31 March 2019.  

Management did not perform an assessment of impairment to determine the expected credit losses on 
the amounts due from subsidiaries. In the absence of any alternative evidence available to us, we were 
unable to determine if any adjustments would be required to the carrying value of the amounts due from 
subsidiaries recorded at the Company level as of 31 March 2019. 

The auditor’s report dated 30 November 2018 for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 included a 
similar qualification on this matter. 

(3) Recoverable amount of non-financial assets and reversal of/and impairment losses

The Group had carried out an impairment assessment over its property, plant and equipment (Note 4), 
investment property (Note 5), land use rights (Note 6) and costs of investment in subsidiaries (Note 7) 
and identified 5 main Cash-Generating-Units (CGUs), defined as the smallest identifiable group of assets 
that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of 
assets.  The CGUs identified were the furniture business in Singapore (Retail CGU (Singapore)), the 
furniture business in Malaysia (Retail CGU (Malaysia)), the furniture business in Taiwan (Retail CGU 
(Taiwan)), rental income from the leasing from properties in China (Leasing CGU) and the building 
material business (Building Materials CGU).   

The recoverable amount should be based on the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and value-in-use 
basis of computation. The value-in-use should be computed using the estimated future cash flows 
discounted to the present values using pre-tax discount rates.  

However, no recoverable amount was determined for the following: 

- Costs of investment in subsidiaries (Note 7) at the Company level for Building Materials CGU,
Retail CGU (Singapore) and Leasing CGU; and

- Plant and equipment (other than leasehold properties) (Note 4) for Retail CGU (Singapore),
Retail CGU (Malaysia) and Leasing CGU.

Consequently, we were unable to satisfy ourselves by alternative means concerning: 

- any reversal of brought forward impairment loss as at 31 March 2019 of $34,988,360 (Note 7), if
required, in the costs of investment in subsidiaries of those CGUs; and

- any reversal of brought forward impairment loss as at 31 March 2019 of $2,053,171 (Note 4), if
required, or the impairment loss of $517,892 (Note 4) made during the financial year in the plant
and equipment (other than leasehold properties) of those CGUs.

Accordingly, we were unable to ascertain the valuation of the carrying book amount of investments in 
subsidiaries of $Nil (Note 7) and the net book value of plant and equipment (other than leasehold 
properties) of $190,102 (Note 4) of those CGUs respectively as at 31 March 2019. 

The auditor’s report dated 30 November 2018 for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 included a 
similar qualification on this matter. 

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF LORENZO INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of 
Lorenzo International Limited (Cont’d) 

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Cont’d) 

(4) Amount due to contract customers

In the last financial year ended 31 March 2018, as reported in the auditor’s report dated 30 November 
2018, we were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves on (i) the 
existence, accuracy and valuation of the amount due to contract customers (Note 10) of $109,993 as at 31 
March 2018, which consist of contract cost incurred of $5,879,299, attributable profit of $1,441,635 and 
progress billings of $7,430,927; and (ii) the completeness, occurrence and accuracy of the contract 
revenue and project cost of sales, if any, to be recorded in the statement of profit or loss for the financial 
year ended 31 March 2018. 

In the statement of profit or loss for the financial year ended 31 March 2019, management has recognised 
revenue of $260,862 (Note 3) comprising: 

(i) the amount due to customers of $109,993 (Note 17) (comprising contract cost incurred of
$5,879,299, attributable profit of $1,441,635 and progress billings of $7,430,927); and

(ii) a contract revenue amount of $150,869.

We were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to ascertain the appropriate 
accounting periods i.e. which financial year ended – whether 31 March 2019, 31 March 2018 or earlier, 
should the amount due to customers of $109,993 and the current year’s contract revenue of $150,869 be 
recognised in. 

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of 
internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they 
are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain 
accountability of assets. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s and the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF LORENZO INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of 
Lorenzo International Limited (Cont’d) 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the financial statements in accordance with Singapore 
Standards on Auditing and to issue an auditor’s report. However, because of the matters described in the 
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory 
Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities 
(“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the ACRA Code.  

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

In view of the significance of the matters referred to in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of 
our report, we do not express an opinion on whether the accounting and other records required by the 
Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the 
auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Ho Teik Tiong. 

Foo Kon Tan LLP 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 

Singapore, 22 January 2020 

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF LORENZO INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
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The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements. 

Statements of financial position 
as at 31 March 2019 

The Company The Group
31 March 31 March 1 April 31 March 31 March 1 April

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
(restated) (restated) (restated)

Note $ $ $ $ $ $

ASSETS
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 15,830 4,495 3,751 4,466,175 5,233,750 16,266,659
Investment properties 5 - - - 8,113,103 8,720,267 -
Land use rights 6 - - - 869,276 921,649 1,088,206
Subsidiaries 7 - - 25,371,628 - - -
Other receivables 9 - - - - 121,179 143,539
Deferred tax assets 16 - - - 14,035 44,487 12,169

15,830 4,495 25,375,379 13,462,589 15,041,332 17,510,573

Current Assets
Land use rights 6 - - - 24,015 24,777 30,716
Inventories 8 - - - 8,506,869 7,166,138 11,930,512
Trade and other receivables 9 1,096,573 3,900,657 5,346,499 4,110,956 7,148,747 8,060,000
Cash and bank balances 11 4,687 3,160 8,122 923,582 1,586,213 1,592,914

1,101,260 3,903,817 5,354,621 13,565,422 15,925,875 21,614,142
Total assets 1,117,090 3,908,312 30,730,000 27,028,011 30,967,207 39,124,715

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and Reserves
Share capital 12 39,948,675 39,948,675 39,948,675 39,948,675 39,948,675 39,948,675
Reserves 13 (42,097,251) (39,939,285) (12,113,006) (47,278,762) (41,497,580) (30,623,409)
Total equity (2,148,576) 9,390 27,835,669 (7,330,087) (1,548,905) 9,325,266

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 14 - - - 27,133 35,707 75,525
Contract liabilities 15 - - - 469,418 1,765,098 41,535
Deferred tax liabilities 16 - - - 95,727 164,643 159,352

- - - 592,278 1,965,448 276,412

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 3,193,670 3,898,922 2,884,331 10,783,496 14,227,497 11,516,709
Contract liabilities 15 - - 10,000 3,908,754 3,574,470 3,026,941
Borrowings 14 - - - 18,924,171 12,619,903 14,599,428
Amount due to directors 18 71,996 - - 71,996 - 281,715
Current tax payable - - - 77,403 128,794 98,244

3,265,666 3,898,922 2,894,331 33,765,820 30,550,664 29,523,037
Total liabilities 3,265,666 3,898,922 2,894,331 34,358,098 32,516,112 29,799,449
Total equity and liabilities 1,117,090 3,908,312 30,730,000 27,028,011 30,967,207 39,124,715

STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 MARCH 2019
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The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 

2019 2018
Note $ $

Revenue 3 29,065,297 31,846,606
Cost of sales (15,495,868) (17,431,503)
Gross profit 13,569,429 14,415,103
Other income 19 4,161,717 6,925,361
Distribution costs (3,041,302) (3,409,656)
Administrative expenses (14,258,000) (18,869,417)
Other operating expenses (4,572,221) (8,551,752)
Finance costs 20 (1,294,173) (897,683)
Loss before taxation 21 (5,434,550) (10,388,044)
Tax expense 22 (393,054) (423,583)
Loss after taxation (5,827,604) (10,811,627)

Loss for the year attributable to owners
of the Company (5,827,604) (10,811,627)

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss:
Foreign currency translation differences - foreign

operations, at nil tax 46,422 98,710
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 46,422 98,710

Total comprehensive loss for the
year attributable to owners of the Company (5,781,182) (10,712,917)

Loss per share (cents)
- basic 23 (1.33) (2.46)

- diluted 23 (1.33) (2.46)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 

2019 2018
(restated)

Note $ $
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Loss before taxation (5,434,550) (10,388,044)
Adjustments for:
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables 21 1,918,751 2,677,065
Bad debts written off 21 - 35,497
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 598,399 1,357,504
Depreciation of investment properties 5, 21 573,446 -
Amortisation of land use rights 6, 21 24,110 31,034
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 4, 21 517,892 306,834
Property, plant and equipment written off 21 - 240,492
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 19 (11,111) (994,716)
Gain on disposal of subsidiary 7, 19 - (3,143,338)
Negative goodwill 7, 19 - (296,100)
Inventories written off 9, 21 20,311 345,957
(Reversal of)/allowance for inventory obsolescence 9 (228,815) 3,010,535
Interest income 19 (4,086) (3,182)
Interest expense 20 1,267,937 845,592
Operating loss before working capital changes (757,716) (5,974,870)
Change in inventories (1,251,588) 2,019,966
Change in trade and other receivables 1,029,426 603,643
Change in trade and other payables (3,322,507) 1,016,867
Change in contract liabilities (841,593) 2,758,537
Cash (used in)/generated from operations (5,143,978) 424,143
Interest paid (960,482) (565,615)
Income tax refund 108,584 -
Income tax paid (454,226) (452,990)
Net cash used in operating activities (6,450,102) (594,462)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 4 (490,006) (558,027)
Acquisition of investment properties 5 (185,488) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 72,835 408,304
Interest received 4,086 3,182
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary 7(a) - 3,277,394
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (598,573) 3,130,853

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Repayments of finance lease liabilities (39,073) (111,005)
Proceeds from/ (repayments of) bank loans 5,841,724 (675,610)
Proceeds from/ (repayments of) trust receipts and bills
payables 722,995 (1,299,269)
Proceeds from/(repayment to) directors 71,996 (281,715)
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 6,597,642 (2,367,599)

Net changes in cash and cash equivalents (451,033) 168,792
Deficit in cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (4,330,873) (4,410,262)
Exchange differences on translation of cash and cash

equivalents at beginning of year (14,109) (89,403)
Deficit in cash and cash equivalents at end of year 11 (4,796,015) (4,330,873)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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Lorenzo International Limited and its subsidiaries 12 

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of cash flows (Cont’d) 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities, excluding 
equity item 

Cash flows Non-cash items

Proceeds Foreign
As at from/ currency As at

1 April (principal Interest Interest Interest translation 31 March
2018 repayment) paid expense payables reserve 2019

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Finance lease
liabilities

(Note 14.1) 87,021 (39,073) (2,106) 2,106 - (140) 47,808
Bank loans

(Note 14.2) 3,740,630 5,841,724 (426,277) 641,900 (215,623) (26,718) 9,555,636
Bills payables and

trust receipts
(Note 14.3) 2,910,873 722,995 (145,050) 236,882 (91,832) (5,605) 3,628,263

Amount due to
directors

(Note 18) - 71,996 - - - - 71,996

Cash flows Non-cash flows

Proceeds Foreign
As at from/ currency As at

1 April (principal Interest Interest Interest translation 31 March
2017 repayment) paid expense payables reserve 2018

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Finance lease
liabilities (Note 14.1) 196,853 (111,005) (14,323) 14,323 - 1,173 87,021

Bank loans (Note 14.2) 4,388,298 (675,610) (54,989) 254,596 (199,607) 27,942 3,740,630
Bills payables and

trust receipts
(Note 14.3) 4,086,626 (1,299,269) (109,592) 189,962 (80,370) 123,516 2,910,873

Amount due to 
directors (Note 18) 281,715 (281,715) - - - - -

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Cont’d)
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 

1 General information 

The financial statements of the Group and the Company for the year ended 31 March 2019 were authorised 
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on the date of the Directors’ Statement. 

The Company was incorporated as a limited liability company and domiciled in Singapore. 

The registered office and principal place of business is located at 23 Neythal Road, #04-03 Singapore 
628588. 

The principal activities of the Company are those relating to investment holding. The principal activities of 
the subsidiaries are stated in Note 7. 

2(a) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(International) (“SFRS(I)”) including related Interpretations promulgated by the Accounting Standards 
Council (“ASC”). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except 
as disclosed in the accounting policies below. 

The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollar which is the Company’s functional currency. All 
financial information is presented in Singapore Dollar, unless otherwise stated. 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years presented in these financial 
statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities. 

Going concern basis 
The Group had deficit in equity of $7,330,087 (2018 - $1,548,905, 1 April 2017 - positive equity of 
$9,325,266) and net current liabilities of $20,200,398 (2018 - $14,624,789, 1 April 2017 - $7,908,895) while 
the Company had deficit in equity of $2,148,576 (2018 – positive equity of $9,390, 1 April 2017 – positive 
equity of $27,835,669) and net current liabilities of $2,164,406 (2018 – net current assets of $4,895, 1 April 
2017 – net current assets of $2,460,290). For the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the Group incurred a 
loss after tax of $5,827,604 (2018 - $10,811,627) and a total comprehensive loss of $5,781,182 (2018 - 
$10,712,917) respectively, and the Group had a net operating cash outflows of $6,450,102 (2018 - $594,462). 

These factors indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the 
Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as going concerns. Some of the Group’s financing 
arrangements had expired and the amounts outstanding were payable on 30 September 2016 and 31 
December 2016. At the reporting date, no letter of extension on the repayment dates for these outstanding 
loans and borrowings at year end amounting to $5,510,045 was obtained from the banks. The management 
did not prepare cash flow projection to assess the going concern assumption. 

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 

2(a) Basis of preparation (Cont’d) 

Going concern basis (Cont’d) 
If the Group and Company are unable to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, the 
Group and Company may be unable to discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business and 
adjustments may have to be made to reflect the situation that assets may need to be realised other than in the 
normal course of business and at amounts which may differ significantly from the amounts at which they are 
currently recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position. In addition, the Group and Company 
may have to provide for further liabilities that may arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as 
current assets and liabilities. No such adjustments have been made to these financial statements.  

Significant accounting estimates and judgements 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with SFRS(I) requires the use of judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the financial year. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge 
of current events and actions, actual results may differ from those estimates. 

The critical accounting estimates and assumptions used and areas involving a significant judgement are 
described below. 

(a) Significant judgements in applying accounting policies 

Determination of functional currency 
These financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollar, which is the functional currency of the 
Company. 

Determination of functional currency involves significant judgment. The functional currency of the 
Company is principally determined by the primary economic environment in which it operates. 

The Company reconsiders their functional currency if there is a change in the underlying transactions, events 
and conditions which determine their primary economic environment. The determination of functional 
currency affects the carrying value of non-current assets included in the statement of financial position and, 
as a consequence, the amortisation of those assets included in the income statement. It also impacts 
exchange gains and losses included in the income statement. 

Income tax 
The Group has exposure to income taxes in different jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in 
determining the group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for 
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group 
recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. 
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, 
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such 
determination is made.  The Group’s current tax payable and deferred tax liabilities as at 31 March 2019 
amounted to $77,403 (2018 - $128,794, 1 April 2017 - $98,244) and $95,727 (2018 - $164,643, 1 April 2017 - 
$159,352) respectively. 

Deferred tax assets 
The Group recognises deferred tax assets on carried forward tax losses to the extent there are sufficient 
estimated future taxable profits and/or taxable temporary differences against which the tax losses can be 
utilised and that the Group is able to satisfy the continuing ownership test. 

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 

2(a) Basis of preparation (Cont’d) 

Significant accounting estimates and judgements (Cont’d) 

(a) Significant judgements in applying accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Deferred tax assets (Cont’d) 
During the current financial year, the Group recognised shareholdings of certain group entities, for which a 
deferred tax asset as at 31 March 2019 amounting to $14,035 (2018 - $44,487, 1 April 2017 - $12,169) was 
recognised based on the anticipated future use of tax losses carried forward by those entities. If the tax 
authority regards the group entities as not satisfying the continuing ownership test, the deferred tax asset will 
have to be written off as income tax expense. 

Probability of success of litigation cases 
The Group exercises judgement in measuring and recognising provisions and the exposures to contingent 
liabilities related to pending litigation or other outstanding claims subject to negotiated settlement, 
mediation, arbitration or government regulation, as well as other contingent liabilities. 

Judgement is necessary in assessing the likelihood that a pending claim will succeed, or a liability will arise, 
and to quantify the possible range of the financial settlement. Because of the inherent uncertainty in this 
evaluation process, actual losses may be different from the originally estimated provision. 

An entity in the Group is a defendant in a legal action involving the alleged injuries caused by debris from a 
fallen granite slab from a building in 2011. The directors believe that, based on legal advice, there is a present 
obligation that will probably require an outflow of resources. However, no provision for the contingent 
liability has been made by the Group as at 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2019 in view of the 
existence of a letter of undertaking by the previous shareholder of the subsidiary. 

Further details are given in Note 27 to the financial statements. 

Classification of land use rights 
Within the People’s Republic of China, it is the practice for the State to issue land use rights to individuals or 
entities. Such rights are evidenced through the granting of a land use rights certificate, which gives the holder 
the right to use the land (including the construction of buildings thereon) for a given length of time. An 
upfront payment is made for this right. Management judges that the substance of these arrangements is an 
operating lease over the land, and that the upfront payment represents prepaid lease rentals. The prepayment 
is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, analysed between current and non-current 
assets which represent amounts to be utilised within and after 12 months of the end of the reporting period. 
The prepayment is amortised to spread the lease cost over the duration of the term of the land use right, as 
specified in the land use right certificate. The carrying amount of the Group’s prepayment at the reporting 
date amounted to $893,291 (2018 - $946,426, 1 April 2017 - $1,118,922). 

Determination of operating segments 
Management will first identify the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”). Then it should identify their 
business activities (which may not necessarily earn revenue or incur expenses). Management will further 
determine whether discrete financial information is available for the business activities and whether that 
information is regularly reviewed by the CODM. Judgement is applied by management of the aggregation 
criteria to operating segments. 

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 

2(a) Basis of preparation (Cont’d) 

Significant accounting estimates and judgements (Cont’d) 

(b) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions used in applying accounting policies 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, investment property and land use rights 
Property, plant and equipment, investment property and land use rights are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives. The Group’s business is capital intensive and the annual depreciation 
of property, plant and equipment, investment property and land use rights forms a significant component of 
total costs charged to profit or loss. The Group performs annual reviews on whether the assumptions made 
on useful lives continue to be valid. The carrying amount of the Company’s and the Group’s property, plant 
and equipment, investment property and land use rights as at 31 March 2019 are disclosed in Notes 4, 5 and 
6 respectively. As changes in the expected level of usage, competitors’ actions and technological 
obsolescence arising from changes in market demands of the assets could impact the economic useful lives 
and the residual values of these assets, future depreciation charges could be revised.  

If depreciation on property, plant and equipment, investment property and land use rights 
increase/decreases by 10% from management’s estimate, the Group’s loss for the year will decrease/increase 
by approximately $119,596 (2018 - $138,854). 

Impairment of non-financial assets 
Property, plant and equipment, investment property, land use rights, and investments in subsidiaries are 
tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that these assets may be 
impaired. 

The recoverable amounts of these assets and, where applicable, cash-generating units have been determined 
based on the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use calculations. These calculations require 
the use of estimates. Estimating the value-in-use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected 
future cash flows from the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and also to use many 
estimates and assumptions such as future market growth, forecast revenue and costs, useful lives and 
utilisation of the assets, discount rates and other factors. 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s and the Group’s property, plant and equipment, investment 
property, land use rights and investments in subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in 
Notes 4, 5, 6 and 7 to the financial statements respectively. The details of the impairment testing are 
disclosed in the respective notes. 

Allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) of trade and other receivables 
Allowance for ECL of receivables are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. 
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the ECL calculation, 
based on the Group’s past collection history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates 
at each reporting date. Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default 
is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes 
historical data, current market conditions, assumptions and expectations of future conditions.  

For non-trade receivables, the Group and the Company apply the general approach to determine ECL. ECL 
is measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage-1 (low credit risk) assets, or lifetime ECL for 
stage-2 (deterioration in credit risk) or stage-3 (credit impaired) assets. An asset moves from stage-1 to stage-
2 when its credit risk increases significantly and subsequently to stage-3 as it becomes credit-impaired. In 
assessing whether credit risk has significantly increased, the Group and the Company consider qualitative 
and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking information. Lifetime ECL represents ECL 
that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument whereas 12-
month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL expected to result from default events possible within 12 
months after the reporting date. 

NOTES TO THE
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 

2(a) Basis of preparation (Cont’d) 

Significant accounting estimates and judgements (Cont’d) 

(b) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions used in applying accounting policies 
(Cont’d) 

Allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) of trade and other receivables (Cont’d) 
For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach and uses a provision matrix to calculate 
ECL. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have 
similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. 
The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust historical credit loss experience with current market conditions 
and forward-looking information. The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default 
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECL is a significant estimate. The amount of ECL is sensitive to 
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.  

The carrying amounts of the Company’s and the Group’s trade and other receivables as at 31 March 2019 
amount to $1,089,136 (2018 - $3,881,999, 1 April 2017 – $5,306,218) and  $2,967,265 (2018 - $5,550,112, 1 
April 2017 – $7,162,144) respectively. 

Allowance for inventories obsolescence 
The Group reviews the ageing analysis of inventories at each reporting date, and makes provision for 
obsolete and slow moving inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for sale. The net realisable 
value for such inventories are estimated based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market 
conditions. Possible changes in these estimates could result in revision to the valuation of inventories. If the 
net realisable values of the inventory increase/decrease by 10% of management estimates, the Group’s loss 
for the year will decrease/increase by $850,687 (2018 - $716,614). The carrying amount of the Group’s 
inventory is disclosed in Note 9 to the financial statements. 

2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2018/2019 

Full Convergence with SFRS(I) 

In December 2017, the Accounting Standards Council (“ASC”) Singapore issued Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards (International) (SFRS(I)), Singapore’s equivalent of the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs). Singapore-incorporated companies that have issued or are in the process of 
issuing equity or debt instruments for trading in a public market in Singapore will apply the new reporting 
framework, SFRS(I), for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.   

The Group’s and the Company’s financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 are 
prepared in accordance with SFRS(I) issued by ASC.  As a result, this will be the first set of financial 
statements prepared under SFRS(I)s. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 

 
 

2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2018/2019 
(Cont’d)  
 
SFRS(I) 1 First-time Adoption of Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) 
 
In adopting the new reporting framework, the Group and the Company are required to apply SFRS(I) 1 
First-time Adoption of Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International). The Group and the Company have 
applied SFRS(I) 1 with 1 April 2017 as the date of transition. SFRS(I) 1 generally requires that the Group 
and the Company applies SFRS(I) on a retrospective basis, as if such accounting policy had always been 
applied.   
 
If there are changes to the accounting policies arising from new or amended standards effective in 
2018/2019, restatement of comparatives may be required because SFRS(I) 1 requires both the opening 
statement of financial position and comparative information to be prepared using the most current 
accounting policies.  
 
SFRS(I) 1 provides mandatory exceptions and optional exemptions from retrospective application, but 
these are often different from those specific transition provisions in individual FRSs applied to the FRS 
financial statements. Management did not elect any of the mandatory exceptions and the optional 
exemptions in SFRS(I) 1 except for the following: 
 
• The Group and the Company have elected to apply the short-term exemption to adopt SFRS(I) 9 on 1 

April 2018.  Accordingly, the requirements of SFRS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement are applied to financial instruments up to the financial year ended 31 March 2018.  The 
Group and the Company are also exempted from complying with SFRS(1) 7, Financial instruments: 
Disclosures to the extent that the disclosures required in SFRS(I) 7 relate to the items within the scope 
of SFRS(I) 9. 

 
As a result, the requirements under SFRS (old framework) are applied in place of the requirements under 
SFRS(I) 7 and SFRS(I) 9 to comparative information about items within scope of SFRS(I) 9. 
 
Other new SFRS(I) and amendments in 2018/2019 
 
On 1 April 2018, the Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their 
annual reporting period commencing 1 April 2018.   
 
 
 
 
Reference 

 
 
 
Description 

Effective date 
(Annual periods 

beginning on  
or after) 

   
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-40 Transfers to Investment Property 1 January 2018 
SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 
SFRS(I) 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018 
SFRS(I) INT 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and  1 January 2018 
 Advance Consideration  

 
Most of the amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods 
and did not significantly affect the current period.  
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2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2018/2019 
(Cont’d)  

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-40 Transfers of Investment Property 

Under the amendments to SFRS(I) 1-40 Transfers of Investment Property has been amended to state that 
an entity shall transfer a property to, or from, investment property when, and only when, there is evidence 
of a change in use. A change of use occurs if property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment 
property. A change in management’s intentions for the use of a property by itself does not constitute 
evidence of a change in use.    

The amendments did not have any impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments 

SFRS(I) 9 replaces most of the existing guidance in FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.  
It is a package of improvements introduced which includes: 

• Classification and measurement;
• A single, forward looking expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets; and
• A new general hedge accounting requirements.

It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and de-recognition of financial instruments from FRS 39. 

Overall, there was no significant change to the measurement basis arising from adoption the new 
classification and measurement model under SFRS(I) 9.  

Loans and receivables currently accounted for at amortised cost will continue to be accounted for using 
amortised cost model under SFRS(I) 9. 

For financial assets currently held at fair value, the Group expects to continue measuring the assets at fair 
value under SFRS(I) 9.  

In the assessment of impairment on debt instruments, the Group applied the expected credit loss model 
using either the general approach – the 12-month or lifetime basis which is dependent on whether there has 
been a significant increase in the credit risk of the assets from initial recognition to the date of initial 
application of SFRS(I) 9 or the simplified approach – the use of provision matrix and calculating ECL on a 
lifetime basis.   
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2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2018/2019 
(Cont’d)  

 
SFRS(I) 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
 
SFRS(I) 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers establishes a framework for determining when and how to 
recognise revenue. The objective of the standard is to establish the principles that an entity shall apply to 
report useful information about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows 
arising from a contract with a customer. It established a new five-step model that will apply to revenue 
arising from contracts with customers. Under this standard, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects 
the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods and services to 
a customer. 
 
The standard replaces FRS 11 Construction Contracts, FRS 18 Revenue, INT FRS 113 Customer Loyalty 
Programmes, INT FRS 115 Agreements for Construction of Real Estate, INT FRS 118 Transfer of Assets from 
Customers and INT FRS 31 Revenue – Barter Transactions involving Advertising Services. The new standard applies 
to contracts with customers. However, it does not apply to insurance contracts, financial instruments or 
lease contracts, which fall into the scope of other standards. 
 
The standard also includes clarification on how to: 
 
• Identify a performance obligation (the promise to transfer a good or a service to a customer) in a 

contract; 
• Determine whether an entity is a principal (the provider of a good or service) or an agent (responsible 

for arranging for the good or service to be provided); and 
• Determine whether the revenue from granting a licence should be recognised at a point in time or over 

time. 
 
The adoption of SFRS(I) 15 did not have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements. 
 
SFRS(I) INT 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 
 
This Interpretation provides requirements about which exchange rate to use in reporting foreign currency 
transactions (such as revenue transactions) when payment is made or received in advance. 
 
The amendments did not have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements. 
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2(c) SFRS(I) not yet effective

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 
March 2019 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. 

Reference Description 

Effective date 
(Annual 
periods 

beginning on 
or after) 

SFRS(I) 10 and 
SFRS(I) 1-28 

Amendments to SFRS(I) 10 and SFRS(I) 1-28: Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture 

To be 
determined 

SFRS(I) 16 Leases 1 January 2019 
SFRS(I) 9 Amendments to SFRS(I) 9: Prepayment Features with 

Negative Compensation 
1 January 2019 

SFRS(I) 1-28 Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-28: Long-term Interests in 
Associates and Joint Ventures 

1 January 2019 

SFRS(I) 1-19 Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-19: Plan Amendment, 
Curtailment or Settlement 

1 January 2019 

SFRS(I) 1-1 and SFRS(I) 1-8 Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 and SFRS(I) 1-8: 
Definition of Material 

1 January 2020 

SFRS(I) 3 Amendments to SFRS(I) 3: Definition of a Business 1 January 2020 
Various SFRS (I)s Amendments to References to the Conceptual 

Framework in SFRS(I) Standards 
1 January 2020 

SFRS(I) 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021 

Except for the following, the Group expects that the adoption of the other standards and amendments 
above will have no material impact on the Group’s financial statements in the period of initial application. 

SFRS(I) 16 Leases 

SFRS(I) 16 Leases replaces FRS 17 Leases accounting requirements introduced more than 30 years ago. This 
new standard eliminates the lessee’s classification of leases as either operating or finance leases and introduce 
a single lessee accounting model.   

i. The Group and the Company as lessee

Applying the new model, a lessee is required to recognise right-of-use (ROU) assets and financial 
liabilities to pay rentals with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of a low 
value. 

SFRS(I) 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in FRS 17 Leases. 
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to 
account for these two types of leases using the FRS 17 operating lease and finance lease accounting 
models respectively. However, SFRS(I) 16 requires a more extensive disclosures to be provided by a 
lessor. 

SFRS(I) 16 replaces existing lease accounting guidance, including FRS 17, INT FRS 104 Determining 
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, INT FRS 15 Operating Leases – Incentives, and INT FRS 27 
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
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2(c) SFRS(I) not yet effective (Cont’d)

SFRS(I) 16 Leases (Cont’d) 

i. The Group and the Company as lessee (Cont’d)
The new standard affects primarily the accounting for the Group’s existing operating lease 
arrangements as a lessee. The Group expects these operating leases to be recognised as right-of-use 
(“ROU”) assets with corresponding lease liabilities under the new standard. This would increase the 
gearing ratio of the Group.
The Group has performed a preliminary impact assessment and expects to recognise right-of-use 
assets of approximately $3,600,000 and corresponding lease liabilities of the same amount for its 
leases previously classified as operating leases on adoption of SFRS(I) 16.
The Group plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date by applying SFRS(I) 16 
retrospectively with the cumulative effect on initial application as an adjustment to the opening 
balance of retained earnings as at 1 April 2019.

ii. The Group and the Company as lessor
SFRS(I) 16 substantially carries forward the current existing lessor accounting requirements. 
Accordingly, the Group continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to 
account for these two types of leases using the existing operating lease and finance lease accounting 
models respectively.
No significant impact is expected for other leases in which the Group is a lessor.

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 and SFRS(I) 1-8: Definition of Material 

The amendments clarify the definition of material and how it should be applied by including in the definition 
guidance. The new definition of material states that “Information is material if omitting, misstating or 
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions that the primary users of general 
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial 
information about a specific reporting entity.” The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the 
nature or magnitude of information. An entity will need to assess whether the information, either 
individually or in combination with other information, is material in the context of the financial statements. 
A misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by 
the primary users.  

Amendments to SFRS(I) 3: Definition of a Business 

The amendments are changes to Appendix A Defined terms, the application guidance, and the illustrative 
examples of SFRS(I) 3 only. They: 

• clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include, as a
minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs;

• narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing on goods and services provided to
customers and by removing the reference to an ability to reduce costs;

• add guidance and illustrative examples to help entities assess whether a substantive process has been
acquired;

• remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or
processes and continuing to produce outputs; and

• add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business.
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies 

Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent 
accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances. 

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions and dividends are eliminated in full. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains 
control and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 

Losses and other comprehensive income are attributable to the non-controlling interests even if that results 
in a deficit balance. 

Subsidiary 

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is 
exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the investee.  

Thus, the Group controls an investee, if and only if, the Group has all of the following: 

(i) power over the investee;
(ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
(iii) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not 
the Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 

• The size of the Group’s holding of the voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings
of other vote holders;

• Potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
• Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the

current ability to direct the relevant authorities at the time that decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Non-controlling interest 

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners 
of the Group, and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, and 
within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from equity attributable to 
owners of the Group. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Consolidation (Cont’d) 

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control 

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control 
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests 
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. 
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of 
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Group. 

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries resulting in loss of control 

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it: 

• De-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying
amounts as at that date when control is lost;

• De-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;
• De-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
• Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;
• Recognises the fair value of any investment retained; and
• Recognises any gain or loss in profit or loss.
• Re-classifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive

income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between: 

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest; and

(ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interest.

All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are 
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. 
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable 
SFRS(I)). 

The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when the control is lost is 
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under FRS 39 or, when applicable, 
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture. 

Business combination 

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The 
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises 
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at 
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amount of acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies 

Business combination (Cont’d) 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition-date carrying value of the acquirer’s 
previously-held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or 
losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss. Any contingent consideration to be 
transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair 
value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance 
with FRS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for 
within equity. 

Goodwill 

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and 
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. 

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. Depreciation is computed utilising the straight-line method to write off the depreciable 
amount of these assets over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Leasehold properties over the remaining year of lease 
Factory buildings 20 years 
Plant and equipment (including office 

equipment) 
3 to 10 years 

Motor vehicles 5 to 6 years 

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the items. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant 
and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of 
acquiring or using the asset. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying 
cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment. 

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that have been recognised is added to the 
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the standard of 
performance of the asset before the expenditure was made, will flow to the Group and the cost can be 
reliably measured. Other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense during the financial year in 
which it is incurred. 

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined 
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in profit 
or loss. 

For acquisitions and disposals during the financial year, depreciation is provided from the month of 
acquisition and to the month before disposal respectively. Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment 
are retained in the books of accounts until they are no longer in use. 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each 
reporting date as a change in estimates. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Investment in subsidiaries 

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less allowance 
for any impairment losses on an individual subsidiary basis. 

Land use rights 

Land use rights represent upfront payments to acquire long-term interest in the usage of land. Land use 
rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment loss, if any. Amortisation is calculated 
on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of land use rights over the lease year of 50 years. 

Investment properties 

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation and are not 
occupied by the Group.  

Investment properties are treated as non-current investments and stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Depreciation is computed utilising the straight-line 
method to write off the depreciable amount of these assets over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Investment properties over the remaining year of lease 

Investment properties are subject to renovations or improvements at regular intervals. The cost of major 
renovations and improvements is recognised as additions and the carrying amounts of the replaced 
components are written off to profit or loss. The cost of maintenance, repairs and minor improvement is 
charged to profit or loss when incurred. 

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment 
properties are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from the 
disposal. On disposal or retirement of an investment property, the difference between any disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss. 

Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by 
ending of owner-occupation or commencement of an operating lease to another party. Transfers are made 
from investment property when and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the commencement 
of owner-occupation or commencement of development with a view to sell. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability 
or equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statements 
of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal rights to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously. 

Financial assets 

a. Classification
From 1 April 2018, with the adoption of SFRS(I) 9, the Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss), and
• those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the 
contractual terms of the cash flows. 

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For 
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group 
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity instruments 
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business model for managing those 
assets changes. 

b. Recognition and de-recognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

c. Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset.  Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in
profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Financial assets (Cont’d) 

c. Measurement (Cont’d)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which
the Group classifies its debt instruments:

• Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in
other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

• FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is de-recognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other
gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other
gains/(losses) and impairment expenses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit
or loss.

• FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt instrument that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or
loss and presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments 

The Group subsequently measures all equity instruments at fair value. Where the Group’s management 
has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity instruments in OCI, there is no subsequent 
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the de-recognition of the 
investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other 
income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established. 

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the 
statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity 
instruments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value. 

The Group has elected to measure these equity instruments at FVOCI due to the Group’s intention to 
hold these equity instruments for long-term appreciation. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Financial assets (Cont’d) 

d. Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL) associated with its debt
instruments not held at FVTPL. ECL are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk. ECL are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECL are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
recognised for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL.
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

The Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;
• significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and
• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological

environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Financial assets (Cont’d) 

d. Impairment (Cont’d)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
• a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
• the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s

financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

• it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Definition of default 

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk 
management purposes, as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the 
following criteria are generally not recoverable: 

• when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or
• information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is

unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging 
default criterion is more appropriate.  

Measurement of expected credit losses 

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability 
of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. As 
for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at 
the reporting date; for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the 
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be 
drawn down in the future by the default date determined based on historical trend, the Group’s 
understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking 
information.  

Write-off policy 

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in 
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has 
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off 
may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into 
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in the profit or loss. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Financial assets (Cont’d) 

e. Determination of fair value

The fair values of quoted financial assets are based on quoted market prices. If the market for a financial
asset is not active, the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use
of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same,
discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific
circumstances.

f. Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2018

The Group has applied SFRS(I) 9 retrospectively, but has elected not to restate comparative
information. As a result, the comparative information provided continues to be accounted for in
accordance with the Group’s previous accounting policy.

Classification
Financial assets, other than hedging instruments, can be divided into the following categories: financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets. Financial assets are assigned to the different categories by management
on initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which the assets were acquired and contractual
terms. The designation of financial assets is re-evaluated and classification may be changed at the
reporting date with the exception that the designation of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss is not revocable.

Impairment and measurement

An assessment of impairment is undertaken at least at the end of each reporting period whether or not
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

The Group does not have investments to be designated as fair value through profit or loss, available-for-
sale financial assets and held-to-maturity financial assets.

(1) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services
directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivables. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are
classified as non-current assets.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision
for impairment. If there is objective evidence that the asset has been impaired, the financial asset is
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate.
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Financial assets (Cont’d) 

f. Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2018 (Cont’d)

Impairment and measurement (Cont’d)

(1) Loans and receivables (Cont’d)

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent years when an increase in the asset’s recoverable
amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
subject to a restriction that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
The impairment or writeback is recognised in the profit or loss.

Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables, excluding prepayments and advances to
suppliers.

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits with financial institutions which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash 
flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and 
which form an integral part of cash management. 

Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted-average 
basis and includes all costs in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. In the case of 
manufactured inventories, cost includes all direct expenditure and production overheads based on the 
normal level of activity. 

Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving and defective inventories in arriving at the net realisable value. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale. 

Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new 
ordinary shares are deducted against the share capital account. 

Financial liabilities 

The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings and trade and other payables (including amount due to 
directors).  

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual agreements of the 
instrument. All interest-related charges are recognised as an expense in “finance cost” in the profit or loss.   

Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Group’s obligations specified in the contract expire or 
are discharged or cancelled. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Financial liabilities (Cont’d) 

Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognised initially at the fair value of proceeds received less attributable transaction costs, if 
any. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost which is the initial fair value less any principal 
repayments. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is 
taken to the profit or loss over the year of the borrowings using the effective interest method. The interest 
expense is chargeable on the amortised cost over the year of the borrowings using the effective interest 
method. 

Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through 
the amortisation process. 

Borrowings which are due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period are included 
in current borrowings in the statement of financial position even though the original terms was for a period 
longer than twelve months and an agreement to refinance, or to reschedule payments, on a long-term basis 
is completed after the end of the reporting period. Borrowings to be settled within the Group’s normal 
operating cycle are classified as the current. Other borrowings due to be settled more than twelve months 
after the end of the reporting period are included in non-current borrowings in the statement of financial 
position. 

Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest method. 

Contract liabilities and contract assets 

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has 
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from customer. If the customer pays 
consideration before the Group transfers good or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised 
when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). 

Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract. 

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. 
If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays 
consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration. 

Dividends 

Final dividends proposed by the directors are not accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation 
of retained profit, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these 
dividends have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability. 

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the articles of the Company’s 
Constitution grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends 
are recognised directly as a liability when they are proposed and declared. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Leases 

Where the Group is the lessee, 

Finance leases 

Where assets are financed by lease agreements that give rights approximating to ownership, the assets are 
capitalised as if they had been purchased outright at values equivalent to the lower of the fair values of the 
leased assets and the present value of the total minimum lease payments during the years of the leases.  The 
corresponding lease commitments are included under liabilities. The excess of lease payments over the 
recorded lease obligations are treated as finance charges which are amortised over each lease to give a 
constant effective rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligation. 

The leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as detailed in the 
accounting policy on “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation”. 

Operating leases 

Rentals on operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 
incentives, if any, are recognised as an integral part of the net consideration agreed for the use of the leased 
asset. Penalty payments on early termination, if any, are recognised in the profit or loss when incurred. 

Contingent rents are mainly determined as a percentage of revenue in excess of a specified amount during 
the month. They are charged to the profit or loss when incurred. 

Where the Group is the lessor, 

Operating leases 

Assets are leased out under operating leases. Rental income (net of any incentives given to lessees) is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Financial guarantees 

The Company has issued corporate guarantees to banks for bank borrowings of its subsidiaries. These 
guarantees are financial guarantee contracts as they require the Company to reimburse the bank if the 
subsidiaries fail to make principal or interest payments when due in accordance with the terms of their 
borrowings. 

Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised at their fair value plus transaction costs in the statement 
of financial position. 

Financial guarantee contracts are subsequently amortised to the profit or loss over the year of the 
subsidiaries’ borrowings, unless the Company has incurred an obligation to reimburse the bank for an 
amount higher than the unamortised amount. In this case, the financial guarantee contracts shall be carried 
at the expected amount payable to the bank. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Company and the Group have a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Present 
obligations arising from onerous contracts are recognised as provisions. 

The provision is based on the best estimate of the direct expenditures to be incurred which are both 
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the on-going activities of the Group. 

The directors review the provisions annually and where in their opinion, the provision is inadequate or 
excessive, due adjustment is made. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate 
that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in 
the provision due to the passage of the time is recognised as finance costs. 

Contingencies 

A contingent liability is: 

(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control
of the Group; or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:
(i) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required

to settle the obligation; or
(ii) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control 
of the Group. 

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the statement of financial position of the Group 
except for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which 
the fair values can be reliably determined. 

Income tax 

Current income tax for current and prior years is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or 
recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the deferred income tax arises 
from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and affects neither accounting or taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Income tax (Cont’d) 

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when 
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. A 
deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

Deferred income tax is measured: 

(i) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the date of the financial position; and

(ii) based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
date of the financial position, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expense in the profit or loss, except to the 
extent that the tax arises from a business combination or a transaction which is recognised either in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. Deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted 
against goodwill on acquisition. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities 
and assets and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authorities on the same taxable entity, or on 
different tax entities, provided they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax 
assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

Employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the 
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term 
cash bonus if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past 
service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Pension obligations 

The Company and the Group participate in the defined contribution national pension schemes as provided 
by the laws of the countries in which they have operations. In particular, the Singapore incorporated 
companies in the Group contribute to the Central Provident Fund, a defined contribution plan regulated and 
managed by the Government of Singapore, which applies to the majority of the employees. The 
contributions to national pension schemes are charged to the profit or loss in the year to which the 
contributions relate. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Employee benefits (Cont’d) 

Employee leave entitlements 

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. Accrual is made for 
the unconsumed leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period. 

Related parties 

A related party is defined as follows: 

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group and Company if that
person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Company;
(ii) has significant influence over the Company; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or Company or of a parent of

the Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following conditions applies:
(i) the entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent,

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);
(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or and associate or joint venture

of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);
(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third

entity;
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the

Company or an entity related to the Company. If the Company is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the Company;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);
(vii) a person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management

personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity.

Key management personnel 

Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the entity. Directors and senior managers are considered key management 
personnel. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s and the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and 
deferred tax assets, subject to impairment are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated.   

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, then the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit to which the assets belong will be identified. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont’d) 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for 
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating 
units that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the 
lowest level within the company at which management controls the related cash flows. 

Individual assets or cash-generating units that include goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite 
useful life or those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually. All other individual 
assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting 
market conditions less costs to sell and value-in-use, based on an internal discounted cash flow evaluation. 

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited 
initially to the carrying amount of goodwill. 

Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit. With the 
exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss 
previously recognised may no longer exist.  

Any impairment loss is charged to the profit or loss unless it reverses a previous revaluation in which case it 
is charged to equity. 

With the exception of goodwill, 

• An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount or when there is an indication that the impairment loss recognised for the asset no
longer exists or decreases.

• An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised.

• A reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited directly to equity under the heading
revaluation surplus. However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same revalued assets was
previously recognised as an expense in the profit or loss, a reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised as income in the profit or loss.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed, even if it relates to impairment loss recognised in 
an interim period that would have been reduced or avoided had the impairment assessment been made at a 
subsequent reporting or end of reporting period. 
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Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good 
or extending a service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or derived 
benefits from the usage of the service.  A performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over 
time. If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, the revenue is recognised based on the percentage of 
completion reflecting the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. The 
amount of revenue recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied performance obligation. 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third 
parties.   

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered to the customer and all criteria 
for acceptance have been satisfied and the customer obtains control of the goods. Control of an asset refers 
to an entity’s ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits (that is, the 
potential cash inflows or savings in outflows) from the asset. 

Transportation income related to delivery charges to customers is recognised upon the delivery of goods and 
acceptance by customers. 

Revenue from membership fee received from retail customers is recognised over the membership year. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Interest income is recognised on a time-apportionment basis using the effective interest rate method. 

Government grants 

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss as other income on 
a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are recognised.  

Functional currencies 

Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The financial 
statements of the Group and the Company are presented in Singapore Dollar, which is also the functional 
currency of the Company. 

Conversion of foreign currencies 

Transactions and balances 

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the 
functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation differences 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the reporting date are recognised in profit or loss.  
However, in the consolidated financial statements, currency translation differences arising from net 
investment in foreign operations are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
currency translation reserve.   
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Conversion of foreign currencies (Cont’d) 

When a foreign operation is disposed of, a proportionate share of the accumulated translation differences is 
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 

All other foreign exchange gains and losses impacting profit or loss are presented in the statement of 
comprehensive income within “other losses - net”. 

Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at 
the date when the fair values are determined. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates at the date of the transaction. 

Group entities 

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from Singapore Dollar are translated 
into the presentation currency as follows: 

(i) assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the end of the reporting period;
(ii) income and expenses for each statement presenting profit or loss and other comprehensive income

(i.e. including comparatives) shall be translated at exchange rates at the dates of transactions; and
(iii) all resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve.

Earnings per share 

Basic and diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to 
the owners of the Company by the number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial years.  

Operating segments 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenue and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the 
Group’s other components. Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal 
reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker has been 
identified as the Chief Executive Officer who makes strategic resources allocation decisions. 
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3 Revenue 

2019 2018
The Group $ $

Sale of goods 28,804,435 31,846,606
Contract revenue 260,862 -

29,065,297 31,846,606

Contract
Sale of goods revenue Total

The Group $ $ $

2019
Goods transferred at a point in time 28,804,435 - 28,804,435
Services transferred over time - 260,862 260,862

28,804,435 260,862 29,065,297

Contract
Sale of goods revenue Total

$ $ $

2018
Goods transferred at a point in time 31,846,606 - 31,846,606
Services transferred over time - - -

31,846,606 - 31,846,606

4 Property, plant and equipment 
Office equipment

$
The Company

Cost
At 1 April 2017 17,452
Additions 2,708
At 31 March 2018 20,160
Additions 13,911
At 31 March 2019 34,071

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2017 13,701 
Depreciation 1,964
At 31 March 2018 15,665
Depreciation 2,576
At 31 March 2019 18,241

Net book value
At 31 March 2019 15,830

At 31 March 2018 4,495

At 1 April 2017 3,751
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4 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d) 
 
      
 Leasehold Factory Plant and Motor  
 properties buildings equipment vehicles Total 
The Group $ $ $ $ $ 
      
Cost      
      
At 1 April 2017 7,461,883 13,708,151 16,268,137 2,593,262 40,031,433 
Additions - - 558,027 - 558,027 
Acquisition of subsidiary - - 144,310 - 144,310 
Disposals (733,577) - (810,968) (650,191) (2,194,736) 
Disposal of subsidiary - (1,961,439) (261,549) - (2,222,988) 
Written-off - - (903,050) - (903,050) 
Reclassification (Note 5) (2,142,029) (12,105,138) - - (14,247,167) 
Translation differences 327,066 358,426 461,521 21,130 1,168,143 
At 31 March 2018 4,913,343 - 15,456,428 1,964,201 22,333,972 
Additions - - 367,435 122,571 490,006 
Disposals - - (307,048) (38,699) (345,747) 
Translation differences (65,667) - (214,076) (22,013) (301,756) 
At 31 March 2019 4,847,676 -  15,302,739 2,026,060 22,176,475 
      
Accumulated depreciation      
and impairment losses      
      
At 1 April 2017 1,415,520 5,424,712 14,705,828 2,218,714 23,764,774 
Depreciation 129,718 587,260 533,921 106,605 1,357,504 
Acquisition of subsidiary - - 43,383 - 43,383 
Impairment losses (Note 21) - - 306,834 - 306,834 
Disposals (89,872) - (668,078) (616,802) (1,374,752) 
Disposal of subsidiary - (1,246,567) (235,394) - (1,481,961) 
Written-off - - (662,558) - (662,558) 
Reclassification (Note 5) (610,479) (4,916,421) - - (5,526,900) 
Translation differences 56,012 151,016 442,467 24,403 673,898 
At 31 March 2018 900,899 - 14,466,403 1,732,920 17,100,222 
Depreciation 80,859 - 357,989 159,551 598,399 
Impairment losses (Note 21) - - 507,516 10,376 517,892 
Disposals - - (245,324) (38,699) (284,023) 
Translation differences (11,820)  (193,074) (17,296) (222,190) 
At 31 March 2019 969,938 - 14,893,510 1,846,852 17,710,300 
      
   2019 2018 1 April 2017 
   $ $ $ 
Comprising:      
Accumulated depreciation   15,139,237 15,047,051 22,018,437 
Accumulated impairment losses  2,571,063 2,053,171 1,746,337 
   17,710,300 17,100,222 23,764,774 
      
Net book value       
      
At 31 March 2019 3,877,738 - 409,229 179,208 4,466,175 
      
At 31 March 2018 4,012,444 - 990,025 231,281 5,233,750 
      
At 1 April 2017 6,046,363 8,283,439 1,562,309 374,548 16,266,659 
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4 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d) 
 
 2019 2018 
The Group $ $ 
   
   
Depreciation charged to profit and loss under:   
Cost of sales (Note 21) 138,436 170,342 
Other operating expenses (Note 21) 459,963 1,187,162 

 598,399 1,357,504 
 
As at 31 March 2019, the net book value of motor vehicles acquired under finance leases amounted to $Nil 
(2018 - $12,376, 1 April 2017 - $296,002).  
 
As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s leasehold properties and factory buildings with carrying amounts of 
$3,877,738 (2018 - $4,012,444, 1 April 2017 - $6,046,363) and $Nil (2018 - $Nil, 1 April 2017 - $771,316) 
respectively are mortgaged to financial institutions to secure bank borrowings (Note 14). 
 
In the financial year ended 31 March 2018, part of the leasehold properties and factory building were 
reclassified and transferred to investment properties (Note 5) as the properties were tenanted out to third 
parties at the reporting date. Details of the leasehold properties reclassified as investment properties are 
disclosed in Note 5. 
 
The details of the leasehold properties under property, plant and equipment are as follows: 
 
 Location Type Floor Area 
1. No. 54, Jalan BT U5/BT, Bandar Pinggiran Subang, 

Seksyen U5, 40150 Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Leasehold 99 years expiring 
December 2096 

 
948 sq m 

    
2. No. 33, Jalan BR U5/BR, Bandar Pinggiran Subang, 

Seksyen U5, 40150 Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Leasehold 99 years expiring 
December 2096 

 
491 sq m 

    
3. No. 16-1, 16-2, 16-3, Jalan PJU 5/8, Dataran Sunway, 

Kota Damansara, 47810 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul 
Ehsan 

Leasehold 99 years expiring 
November 2100 

 
460 sq m 

    
4. No. 18-1, 18-2, 18-3, Jalan PJU 5/8, Dataran Sunway, 

Kota Damansara, 47810 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul 
Ehsan 

Leasehold 99 years expiring 
November 2100 

 
460 sq m 

    
5. No. 21, Jalan TSB 8, Taman Industri Sungai Buloh, 47000 

Sungai Buloh, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Leasehold 99 years expiring 
March 2091 

 
8,346 sq m 

    
6. No. 13, Jalan Bulan U5/BN, Section U5, Sungai Buloh, 

Batu 3, 40170 Shah Alam, Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Leasehold 99 years expiring 
March 2096. 

 
312 sq m 

    
7. No. 19, Jalan Tiara 2D/KU1, Bandar Baru Klang, 41150 

Klang Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Leasehold 99 years expiring 
May 2093 

 
440 sq m 

    
8. No. 21, Jalan Tiara 2D/KU1, Bandar Baru Klang, 41150 

Klang Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Leasehold 99 years expiring 
May 2093 

 
440 sq m 

    
9. No. 23, Jalan Tiara 2D/KU1, Bandar Baru Klang, 41150 

Klang Selangor Darul Ehsan 
Leasehold 99 years expiring 
May 2093 

 
440 sq m 
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4 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d) 

Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment 
The Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) were identified according to the operating subsidiaries in the 
retail, export, licensing retail systems, leasing of properties and building materials businesses (namely the 
“Retail”, “Leasing” and “Building Materials” businesses). The Retail business can be further segregated into 
the Retail CGU (Singapore), Retail CGU (Malaysia) and Retail CGU (Taiwan) since each of the CGU is able 
to generate cash inflows independently from its business in the three regions.  

As at 31 March 2019, under the requirements of FRS 36, Impairment of Assets, the losses for the past few 
years and negative operating cash flows for the current year were indicators of impairment which requires 
management to perform impairment testing of the property, plant and equipment, investment property 
(Note 5), land use rights (Note 6) and cost of investments in subsidiaries (Note 7). 

There was no indicator of impairment for Retail CGU (Taiwan). 

The carrying amounts by CGU of property plant and equipment are as follows: 

Buildings
Retail CGU Retail CGU Retail CGU Materials Leasing 

2019 Singapore Malaysia Taiwan CGU CGU Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

The Group
Property, plant and equipment 

(net) (Note 4) 15,830 4,049,434 398,335 - 2,576 4,466,175

2018

The Group
Property, plant and equipment 

(net) (Note 4) 7,637 4,225,873 515,160 - 485,080 5,233,750

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. The review led to the 
recognition of an impairment loss of $517,892 (2018 - $306,834) mainly for plant and equipment at the 
Group level. 

Impairment loss on the Building Materials CGU 
Plant and equipment (other than leasehold properties) 
As there were no indications that the impairment losses previously recognised for the Building Materials 
CGU no longer exist, and that the carrying value of the plant and equipment under the Building Materials 
CGU had been fully impaired, the management considered that the recoverable amount of $Nil determined 
for this CGU was still considered appropriate as at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018.   

Impairment testing on the Retail CGU (Malaysia) 
Plant and equipment (other than leasehold properties) 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2018, the recoverable amounts for Retail CGU (Malaysia) have been 
estimated to be lesser than the carrying amounts of the operational CGU. An impairment loss of $8,005 on 
plant and equipment at the Group level was required as at 31 March 2018. No recoverable amount was 
determined for the plant and equipment (other than leasehold properties) based on the higher of fair value 
less costs to sell and the value in use computation for the financial years ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 
2018. 

Leasehold properties 
Management determined the recoverable amount for the leasehold properties using fair value less cost to 
sell. The fair value less cost to sell of the leasehold properties was determined based on the direct market 
comparison method. The valuation was determined by independent professional valuer with recognised and 
relevant professional qualifications and experience with the local market and category of properties to be 
valued. The determination of fair values includes the use of unobservable inputs.  
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4 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d) 

Impairment testing on the Retail CGU (Malaysia) (Cont’d) 
Leasehold properties (Cont’d) 
The direct market comparison approach estimates the value of the properties by comparing it to the prices 
of similar properties in the same location. Appropriate adjustments have been made to account for any 
differences between the properties and the comparable in terms of location, time, size and other relevant 
factors. The recoverable amount of the leasehold properties at Group level have been estimated to be higher 
than its carrying amounts, therefore, no impairment was required for the financial years ended 31 March 
2019 and 31 March 2018. 

The fair value is a Level 3 in the hierarchy of the fair value measurement. 

Impairment testing on the Retail CGU (Singapore) 
Plant and equipment (other than leasehold properties) 
The recoverable amounts for Retail CGU (Singapore) have been estimated to be lesser than the carrying 
amounts of the operational CGU. An impairment loss of $211,017 (2018 - $298,829) on plant and 
equipment at the Group level is required as at 31 March 2019. No recoverable amount was determined for 
the plant and equipment (other than leasehold properties) based on the higher of fair value less costs to sell 
and the value in use computation for the financial years ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018.  

Impairment testing on the Leasing CGU  
Plant and equipment (other than leasehold properties) 
The recoverable amounts for Leasing CGU have been estimated to be lesser than the carrying amounts of 
the operational CGU. An impairment loss of $306,875 (2018 - $Nil) on plant and equipment at the Group 
level is required as at 31 March 2019. No recoverable amount was determined for the plant and equipment 
(other than leasehold properties) based on the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the value in use 
computation for the financial years ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018. 

5 Investment properties 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group $ $ $

Cost
At beginning of year 14,247,167 -
Additions 185,488 -
Transfer from Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 4) - 14,247,167
Translation differences (372,466) -
At beginning of year 14,060,189 14,247,167 -

Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of year 5,526,900 -
Depreciation (Note 21) 573,446 -
Transfer from Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 4) - 5,526,900
Translation differences (153,260) -
At end of year 5,947,086 5,526,900 -

Net book value
At end of year 8,113,103 8,720,267 -

2019 2018 1 April 2017
$ $ $

Comprising net book value of:
Retail CGU (Singapore) 1,649,421 1,531,550 -
Leasing CGU 6,463,682 7,188,717 -

8,113,103 8,720,267 -
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5 Investment properties (Cont’d) 

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s investment properties with carrying amounts of $8,113,103 (2018 - 
$1,531,550) is mortgaged to financial institutions to secure bank borrowings (Note 14). 

The details of the investment properties are as follows: 

Location Type Floor Area
1. 27 Kaki Bukit Place, Singapore Leasehold 60 years expiring 

November 2055
1,218 sq m

2. 9 Dongyuan Road, Dianshan Hu Town, Kunshan City,
Jiangsu Province, People’s Republic of China

Leasehold 50 years expiring 
March 2057 45,458 sq m

The fair value of the investment property located in Singapore (Retail CGU (Singapore)) is $5,000,000 (2018 
- $5,250,000) based on the independent valuation by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2018 - Teho Property
Consultants Pte Ltd) on 8 October 2018 (2018 - 28 August 2018).

The fair value of the investment property located in China (Leasing CGU) is $17,611,042 (2018 - 
$14,849,120) based on the independent valuation by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2018 - Justice Construction 
Consultation Real Estate Appraisal Co., Ltd) on 8 October 2018 (2018 - 20 August 2018). 

The fair value is a Level 3 in the hierarchy of the fair value measurement. 

Impairment testing of investment properties 
Management determined the recoverable amount for the investment properties using fair value less cost to 
sell. The fair value less cost to sell of the investment properties was determined based on the direct market 
comparison method. The valuation was determined by independent professional valuer with recognised and 
relevant professional qualifications and experience with the local market and category of properties to be 
valued. The determination of fair values includes the use of unobservable inputs.  

The direct market comparison approach estimates the value of the properties by comparing it to the prices 
of similar properties in the same location. Appropriate adjustments have been made to account for any 
differences between the properties and the comparable in terms of location, time, size and other relevant 
factors. The recoverable amount of the investment properties at Group level have been estimated to be 
higher than its carrying amounts of the operational CGU, therefore, no impairment was required for the 
financial years ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018. 

6 Land use rights 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group $ $ $

Cost:
At beginning of year 1,238,873 1,535,809
Disposal of subsidiary -  (337,093)
Translation differences  (38,119) 40,157
At end of year 1,200,754 1,238,873 1,535,809

Accumulated amortisation:
At beginning of year 292,447 416,887
Amortisation (Note 21) 24,110 31,034
Disposal of subsidiary -  (166,861)
Translation differences  (9,094) 11,387
At end of year 307,463 292,447 416,887

Net book value:
At end of year 893,291 946,426 1,118,922
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6 Land use rights (Cont’d) 
2019 2018 1 April 2017

The Group $ $ $

Represented by:
Current 24,015 24,777 30,716 
Non-current 869,276 921,649 1,088,206 

893,291 946,426 1,118,922

2019 2018 1 April 2017
$ $ $

Comprising net book value of :
Leasing CGU 893,291 946,426 1,118,922

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s land use rights with carrying amount of $893,291 (2018 - $Nil, 1 April 
2017 - $172,465) is mortgaged to financial institutions to secure bank borrowings (Note 14). 

The fair value of the land use rights located in China is $15,269,918 (2018 - $12,785,760) based on the 
independent valuation by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2018 - Justice Construction Consultation Real Estate 
Appraisal Co., Ltd) on 8 October 2018 (2018 - 20 August 2018).  

The fair value is a Level 3 in the hierarchy of the fair value measurement. 

Impairment testing of land use rights 
Management determined the recoverable amounts for the land use rights using fair value less cost to sell. 

The fair value less cost to sell of the land use rights were determined based on the direct market comparison 
method. The valuation was determined by independent professional valuer with recognised and relevant 
professional qualifications and experience with the local market and category of properties to be valued. The 
determination of fair values includes the use of unobservable inputs.  

The direct market comparison approach estimates the value of the properties by comparing it to the prices 
of similar properties in the same location. Appropriate adjustments have been made to account for any 
differences between the properties and the comparable in terms of location, time, size and other relevant 
factors.  The recoverable amount of the land use rights at Group level have been estimated to be higher than 
the carrying amounts of the operational CGU, therefore, no impairment was required for the financial years 
ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018.  

7 Subsidiaries 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Company $ $ $

Unquoted equity investments, at cost 34,988,360 34,988,360 34,988,360

Accumulated impairment losses:
At beginning of year (34,988,360) (9,616,732)
Impairment loss - (25,371,628)
At end of year (34,988,360) (34,988,360) (9,616,732)
Net carrying amount - - 25,371,628 

Comprising carrying amount of:
Retail CGU (Singapore) - - 11,107,835
Leasing CGU - - 14,263,793
Building Materials CGU - - -

- - 25,371,628
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7 Subsidiaries (Cont’d) 

Impairment testing of cost of investment in subsidiaries 
The recoverable amount of the subsidiary, as a cash-generating unit, should be determined based on the 
higher of fair value less costs to sell and the value-in-use calculation. As at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 
2018, however, no recoverable amount was determined by management for the Building Material CGU, 
Retail CGU (Singapore) and Leasing CGU based on the higher of fair value less cost to sell and the value-in-
use computation for any possible reversal of accumulated impairment of $34,988,360 provided previously as 
at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018 respectively. 

The subsidiaries are: 

Country of
Name incorporation Ownership interest Principal activities

2019 2018 1 April 2017
% % $

Held by the Company
Uhin Holding Pte Ltd # Singapore 100 100 100 Investment holding and 

trading of sofa sets, wood-
based furniture and accessories

Lorenzo International (Kunshan) People’s 100 100 100 Manufacturing and sale of 
Co., Ltd. *** Republic of wood-based furniture

China

Builders Shop Pte Ltd # Singapore 100 100 100 Investment holding and
trading of building materials 
and contractors for construction

Held by Uhin Holding Pte Ltd
Uhin Sofa Sdn. Bhd. * Malaysia 100 100 100 Investment holding and 

manufacturing and sale of 
sofa sets

Supreme Furnishing Centre Singapore 100 100 100 Retail sale of furniture
Pte Ltd #

Uhin International Co., Ltd. ** Republic of 100 100 100 Retail sale of furniture
China

Lorenzo Furniture (Shanghai) People’s 100 100 100 Inactive
Co., Ltd. *** Republic of 

China

Held by Supreme Furnishing
Centre Pte Ltd
Supreme Furniture (Kunshan) People’s - - 100 Manufacturing and sale of 

Co., Ltd. (Note a) Republic of sofa sets
China

Held by Uhin Sofa Sdn Bhd
Ginova Furnishing Sdn. Bhd. * Malaysia 100 100 100 Investment holding and provision

of management services

Monica Design Sdn. Bhd. * Malaysia 100 100 100 Inactive

Uhin Wood Industries Sdn. Bhd. * Malaysia 100 100 100 Manufacturing and supply of
wooden frames

Held by Ginova Furnishing Sdn. Bhd.
Ginova Marketing Sdn. Bhd. * Malaysia 100 100 100 Retail sale of furniture

Held by Ginova Marketing Sdn. Bhd.
Brezza Living Sdn. Bhd. * (Note b) Malaysia 100 100 - Retail sale of furniture

# Audited by Foo Kon Tan LLP 
* Audited by other firms of auditors – Grant Thornton Malaysia
** Audited by other firms of auditors – Grant Thornton Taiwan 
*** Audited by Foo Kon Tan LLP for consolidation purposes 
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7 Subsidiaries (Cont’d) 

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries
In March 2018, the group disposed of the 100% equity interest of Supreme Furniture (Kunshan) Co. Ltd to a
third party purchaser, namely Kunshan Gao Er Garment Co., Ltd. Please refer to the company’s
announcement with respect to the Disposal of subsidiary dated 13 June 2017.

All the revenue and expenses of the subsidiary were accounted for in the financial year ended 31 March 2018. 
The subsidiary was de-consolidated from the group on 31 March 2018. 

The sale consideration for the disposal was RMB19 million (equivalent to $3,890,915). The carrying amounts 
of identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary as at 31 March 2018 were: 

2018
$

Property, plant and equipment (net of accumulated depreciation) 741,027
Land use rights (net of accumulated amortisation) 170,232
Trade and other receivables 703
Cash and cash equivalents 1,521
Trade and other payables (4,652)
Net assets disposed (100%) 908,831
Realisation of foreign exchange translation reserve (161,254)
Gain on disposal (Note 19) 3,143,338
Purchase consideration 3,890,915

Satisfied by:
Cash 3,278,915
Consideration receivable (included in other receivables under Note 9) 612,000

3,890,915

Analysis of net flow of cash and cash equivalent arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received 3,278,915
Cash and cash equivalent on the disposed subsidiary (1,521)
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiary 3,277,394

(b) Acquisition of subsidiary
On 23 November 2017, Ginova Marketing Sdn. Bhd. (“GMSB”) entered into a Sales and Purchase
Agreement to acquire Brezza Living Sdn. Bhd. (“Brezza”) from a third party for a purchase consideration of
RM1,200,000 (equivalent to $404,040). The payment consideration is to be payable in 3 instalments as
follows.

(i) RM300,000 (equivalent to $97,679) within 12 months from the date of the acquisition;
(ii) RM450,000 (equivalent to $146,520) upon the GMSB and Brezza achieving a consolidated net profit

after tax (“NPAT”) of at least RM600,000 (equivalent to $195,360) in any financial year after the
acquisition (“the 1st Achievement year”); and

(iii) RM450,000 (equivalent to $146,520) upon the GMSB and Brezza achieving a second year of
consolidated NPAT of at least RM600,000 (equivalent to $195,360) which occurrence need not be
consecutive 1st Achievement Year.

GMSB has recognised the cost of investment at fair value of RM300,000 (equivalent to $97,679) upon 
acquisition as the management was of the view that they are unable to achieve the consolidated results as 
mentioned above. 
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7 Subsidiaries (Cont’d) 

(b) Acquisition of subsidiary (Cont’d)
The following summarises the major classes of consideration transferred, and the recognised amounts of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date.

2018
$

Net assets acquired:
Property, plant and equipment (net of accumulated depreciation) 100,927
Inventories 292,852
Group’s share of net assets (100%) at date of acquisition 393,779
Negative goodwill on acquisition (Note 19) (296,100)
Purchase consideration 97,679

Satisfied by:
Cash -
Consideration payable (included in other payables under Note 17) 97,679

97,679

Analysis of net flow of cash and cash equivalent using on acquisition:
Cash consideration paid -
Cash and cash equivalent on the acquired subsidiary -
Net cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiary -

At the date of acquisition of the subsidiary, no intangible assets had been identified and recognised in the 
financial statements. Negative goodwill was measured as the excess of the carrying amount of net assets 
acquired over the purchase consideration. The finalisation of the purchase price allocation (“PPA”) exercise 
was completed on 31 July 2019 with no further considerations due to the vendor. The amounts disclosed 
above approximate the fair value of the PPA exercise.  

8 Inventories 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group $ $ $

Raw materials, at cost 919,428 782,633 1,930,735
Work-in-progress, at cost 366,200 165,136 623,568 
Finished goods, at cost 7,221,241 4,859,327 7,235,263 
Finished goods, at net realisable value - 1,359,042 2,140,946 

8,506,869 7,166,138 11,930,512

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amounted to $8,479,089 (2018 
- $9,379,322) (Note 21) for the year ended 31 March 2019.

During the current financial year, included in other operating expenses, was a reversal of allowance made for 
write-down of obsolete/slow-moving inventories of $228,815 (2018 - allowance made of $3,010,535) (Note 
21). The reversal of allowance made for writedown of inventories was attributable to the ability to sell the 
inventories at a higher net realisable value. 

During the current financial year, included in other operating expenses, was inventories written off that were 
no longer used in production amounted to $20,311 (2018 - $345,957) (Note 21). 
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9 Trade and other receivables 

The Company The Group
1 April 1 April

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
(restated) (restated)

$ $ $ $ $ $

Current
Trade receivables
- third parties - - - 3,668,617 7,345,636 8,002,119
Contract assets 1,864 9,459 10,689
Gross (A) - - - 3,670,481 7,355,095 8,012,808
Less: Allowance for impairment

At beginning of year - - - (4,652,558) (2,891,833) (2,690,953)
Allowance made during the year (Note 21) - - - (1,918,751) (1,760,494) (200,880)
Impairment loss written off 4,444,482 - -
Translation differences - - - - (231) -
At end of year (B) - - - (2,126,827) (4,652,558) (2,891,833)

Net trade receivables (A)-(B) - - - 1,543,654 2,702,537 5,120,975

Current
Other receivables:
Retention sums receivables (Note 10) - - - 81,596 - 241,023
Amounts due from customers for contracts

work-in-progress (Note 10) - - - - - 21,288
Other receivables 2,807,666 2,806,509 2,840,222 4,287,793 5,833,504 4,060,316
Less: Allowance for impairment on

other receivables
At beginning of year (2,800,000) (2,800,000) (2,800,000) (4,156,268) (3,658,642) (2,800,000)
Impairment loss recognised (Note 21) - - - - (916,571) (876,902)
Reversal of allowance during the year - - - 51,217 - -
Amounts utilised - - - - 460,941 -
Translation differences - - - 72,298 (41,996) 18,260
At end of year (2,800,000) (2,800,000) (2,800,000) (4,032,753) (4,156,268) (3,658,642)

Net other receivables 7,666 6,509 40,222 336,636 1,677,236 663,985

Lease deposits 8,200 8,200 107,200 1,024,242 955,051 1,063,955
Other deposits 14,980 14,980 16,910 62,733 94,109 169,690
Amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 1,058,290 3,852,310 5,141,886 - - -
Total at amortised costs 1,089,136 3,881,999 5,306,218 2,967,265 5,428,933 7,018,605
Prepayments 7,437 18,658 40,281 383,545 326,309 464,283
Advances to suppliers - - - 264,390 751,401 16,699
Tax recoverable - - - 495,756 642,104 560,413
Total current trade and other

receivables 1,096,573 3,900,657 5,346,499 4,110,956 7,148,747 8,060,000

Non-current
Other receivables:
Retention sums receivables (Note 10) - - - - 121,179 143,539
Total non-current other receivables - - - - 121,179 143,539

Trade and other receivables of $288,213 (2018 - $144,808, 1 April 2017 - $82,429) of the Group are amounts 
due from firms of which a director of the Company is a member.  

Trade and other receivables of $Nil (2018 - $1,406,396, 1 April 2017 - $Nil) of the Group is in relation to 
outstanding proceeds from disposal of properties and motor vehicles.  

Contract assets relates to unbilled receivables upon delivery of goods which have yet to be invoiced.

Non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries (the Company) 
The balances, comprising mainly advances, are unsecured, interest-free and are to be settled in cash on demand. 

As at the reporting date, there were indicators of impairment as the Company’s subsidiaries incurred losses for 
the past few years. Management did not determine the amount and timing of future cash flows based 
on historical loss experiences for assets with similar credit risk using the effective interest rate. 
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9 Trade and other receivables (Cont’d) 

Trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies: 

The Company The Group
1 April 1 April

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
$ $ $ $ $ $

Current
Singapore Dollar 1,096,573 3,900,657 5,346,499 804,123 3,067,040 4,896,843 
United States Dollar - - - - 50,479 288,166 
Malaysian Ringgit - - - 1,979,543 3,176,092 1,818,214
New Taiwan Dollar - - - 828,892 777,840 804,672
Renminbi - - 498,398 77,296 252,105

1,096,573 3,900,657 5,346,499 4,110,956 7,148,747 8,060,000

Non-current
Singapore Dollar - - - - 121,179 143,539

Trade receivables are granted credit terms ranging from 30 to 60 days (2018 and 1 April 2017 - 30 to 60) days. 

The credit risk for trade and other receivables (at net) based on the information provided by key management is 
as follows: 

The Company The Group
1 April 1 April

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
$ $ $ $ $ $

By geographical area
Singapore 1,086,118 3,878,941 5,303,304 775,466 3,108,666 5,193,737
People’s Republic of China - - - 233,487 65,252 289,563
Malaysia 3,018 3,058 2,914 1,346,150 1,912,686 1,125,457
Other countries - - - 612,162 463,508 553,387

1,089,136 3,881,999 5,306,218 2,967,265 5,550,112 7,162,144

The ageing analysis of trade and other receivables are as follows: 
Impairment

The Company Gross losses Net
$ $ $

31 March 2019
Not past due and not impaired 30,846 - 30,846
Past due less than 30 days - - -
Past due 31 to 60 days - - -
Past due over 60 days 3,858,290 (2,800,000) 1,058,290

3,889,136 (2,800,000) 1,089,136

31 March 2018
Not past due and not impaired 29,670 - 29,670
Past due less than 30 days - - -
Past due 31 to 60 days 2,310 - 2,310
Past due over 60 days 6,650,019 (2,800,000) 3,850,019

6,681,999 (2,800,000) 3,881,999

1 April 2017
Not past due and not impaired 180,198 - 180,198
Past due less than 30 days 143,622 - 143,622
Past due 31 to 60 days 1,728,135 - 1,728,135
Past due over 60 days 6,054,263 (2,800,000) 3,254,263

8,106,218 (2,800,000) 5,306,218 

Expected credit loss – other receivables (the Company and the Group) 
The Company paid a refundable deposit of $2.8 million to a third party (the “Vendor”) for the proposed 
acquisition of a new medical business during the year ended 31 December 2015. The proposed acquisition plan 
did not materialise and as the Vendor was facing financial difficulties, the Company has provided for the entire 
deposit outstanding and recognised an impairment loss of $2.8 million since prior years. 
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9 Trade and other receivables (Cont’d) 

Impairment
The Group Gross losses Net

$ $ $
31 March 2019
Not past due and not credit-impaired 2,508,293 - 2,508,293
Past due less than 30 days 151,508 - 151,508
Past due 31 to 60 days 158,738 - 158,738
Past due over 60 days 6,308,306 (6,159,580) 148,726

9,126,845 (6,159,580) 2,967,265

31 March 2018
Not past due and not credit-impaired 4,408,935 - 4,408,935
Past due less than 30 days 174,237 - 174,237
Past due 31 to 60 days 118,051 - 118,051
Past due over 60 days 9,657,715 (8,808,826) 848,889

14,358,938 (8,808,826) 5,550,112

1 April 2017
Not past due and not credit-impaired 3,225,821 - 3,225,821
Past due less than 30 days 2,569,932 - 2,569,932
Past due 31 to 60 days 92,637 - 92,637
Past due over 60 days 7,824,229 (6,550,475) 1,273,754

13,712,619 (6,550,475) 7,162,144

Financial assets that are neither past due nor credit-impaired 
As of 31 March 2019, trade and other receivables for the Company of $30,846 (2018 - $29,670, 1 April 2017 - 
$180,198) and for the Group of $2,508,293 (2018 - $4,408,935, 1 April 2017 - $3,225,821) are not past due and 
not impaired. Based on historical default rates, the Group believes that no expected credit losses is necessary in 
respect of trade and other receivables not past due as they mainly arise from customers that have a good credit 
record with the Group.  

Financial assets that are past due but not credit-impaired 
As of 31 March 2019, trade and other receivables for the Company of $1,058,290 (2018 - $3,852,329, 1 April 
2017 - $5,126,020) and for the Group of $458,972 (2018 - $1,141,177, 1 April 2017 - $3,936,323) are past due 
but not impaired. Based on historical default rates, the Group believes that no expected credit losses is 
necessary in respect of trade and other receivables past due up to 60 days as they mainly arise from customers 
that have a good credit record with the Group.  

Financial assets that are past due and credit-impaired 
As of 31 March 2019, trade and other receivables for the Company of $2,800,000 (2018 and 1 April 2017 - 
$2,800,000) and for the Group of $6,159,580 (2018 - $8,808,826, 1 April 2017 - $6,550,475) are past due and 
impaired. For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group assessed the recoverability of trade and other 
receivables past due and recognised an impairment loss of $1,918,751 (2018 - $1,760,494, 1 April 2017 - 
$200,880) for trade receivables and $Nil (2018 - $916,571, 1 April 2017 - $876,902) for other receivables 
respectively. The impaired trade and other receivables arise mainly due to those balances which are not 
considered to be collectible.   

Please refer to Note 28 for details of credit risk and foreign currency risk exposures. 
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10 Contracts work-in-progress 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group Note $ $ $

Contracts work-in-progress at end of
the reporting period:

Contract costs incurred - 5,879,299 4,300,774
Attributable profits - 1,441,635 1,247,808
Less: Progress billings - (7,430,927) (5,527,294)

- (109,993) 21,288

Presented as:
Amounts due (to)/from customers (included

in trade and other payables
or receivables) 9, 17 - (109,993) 21,288

Retentions on construction contracts 
- Current 9 81,596 - 241,023
- Non-current 9 - 121,179 143,539

81,596 121,179 384,562

Contract revenue recognised during the
year/period 260,862 - 2,004,146

11 Cash and bank balances 
The Company The Group

1 April 1 April
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017

$ $ $ $ $ $

Fixed deposits - - - 49,403 49,156 49,156
Cash on hand 1 1 1 73,336 58,150 76,319
Cash at bank 4,686 3,159 8,121 800,843 1,478,907 4,467,439
Less: Cash deposit from an executive 

director - - - - - (3,000,000)
4,687 3,160 8,122 923,582 1,586,213 1,592,914

Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following currencies: 

The Company The Group
1 April 1 April

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
$ $ $ $ $ $

Singapore Dollar 4,687 3,160 8,122 302,699 186,123 82,547
United States Dollar - - - - 4,447 1,813
Malaysian Ringgit - - - 137,828 76,414 364,709
New Taiwan Dollar - - - 240,448 1,086,031 1,101,745
Renminbi - - - 242,607 233,064 41,969 
Other currencies - - - - 134 131

4,687 3,160 8,122 923,582 1,586,213 1,592,914
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11 Cash and bank balances (Cont’d) 

The weighted average interest rates of fixed deposits are as follows: 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group % per annum % per annum % per annum

Singapore Dollar 0.3% 0.3% 0.3%

Please refer to Note 28 for details of foreign currency risk exposures. 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following: 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group $ $ $

Fixed deposits 49,403 49,156 49,156 
Cash on hand 73,336 58,150 76,319
Cash at bank 800,843 1,478,907 4,467,439 
Less: Bank overdrafts (secured) (Note 14.3) (5,719,597) (5,917,086) (6,003,176)
Less: Cash deposit from an executive director - - (3,000,000)
As per statement of cash flows (4,796,015) (4,330,873) (4,410,262)

In the financial period ended 31 March 2017, cash deposit from an executive director of the Company whose 
use was conditional upon matching cash advance from a controlling shareholder of the Company.  

12 Share capital 

1 April 1 April
The Company and the Group 2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017

Number of ordinary shares $ $ $

Issues and fully paid, with no par 
value 439,400,466 439,400,466 439,400,466 39,948,675 39,948,675 39,948,675

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to 
one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the 
Company’s residual assets. 
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13 Reserves 

The Company The Group
1 April 1 April

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
$ $ $ $ $ $

Translation reserve - - - (5,160,943) (5,207,365) (5,144,821)
Merger reserve - - - (3,282,141) (3,282,141) (3,282,141)
Statutory common reserve - - - - - 68,256
Capital reserve - - - 838,050 838,050 838,050
Accumulated losses (42,097,251) (39,939,285) (12,113,006) (39,673,728) (33,846,124) (23,102,753)

(42,097,251) (39,939,285) (12,113,006) (47,278,762) (41,497,580) (30,623,409)

Translation reserve 
Translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations. 

Merger reserve 
Merger reserve arises from the difference between the nominal value of shares issued by the Company and the 
net asset values of the subsidiaries acquired under the restructuring exercise in 2006 involving a business 
combination under common control. 

Statutory common reserve 
The statutory common reserve represents the amount transferred from profit after taxation of the subsidiaries 
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) in accordance with the PRC requirement. The statutory 
common reserve cannot be reduced except where approval is obtained from the relevant PRC authority to 
apply the amount either in setting off the accumulated losses or increasing capital. 

Capital reserve 
Under the provisions of the Company Law of the Republic of China (“ROC”), companies in ROC are required 
to set aside a capital reserve equal to 10% of its annual net profit (less losses of prior years, if any), before it 
declares any part of such net profit as dividends and bonuses, until the accumulated reserve equals the total 
capital stock. This reserve shall be used exclusively to offset losses or, if the balance of the reserve exceeds 50% 
of paid-in capital, to increase capital not exceeding 50% of the reserve balance. 

14 Borrowings 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group Note $ $ $

Non-current
Finance lease liabilities 14.1 27,133 35,707 75,525

Current
Finance lease liabilities 14.1 20,675 51,314 121,328
Bank loans (secured) 14.2 9,555,636 3,740,630 4,388,298
Other borrowings (secured) 14.3 9,347,860 8,827,959 10,089,802 

18,924,171 12,619,903 14,599,428
Total 18,951,304 12,655,610 14,674,953
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14 Borrowings (Cont’d) 

14.1 Finance lease liabilities 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group $ $ $

Future minimum lease payments:
Due not later than one year 23,045 53,341 133,431 
Due later than one year and not later than five years 32,815 41,472 75,141 
Due later than five years - 1,710 12,078

55,860 96,523 220,650
Future finance charges on finance leases (8,052) (9,502) (23,797)
Present value of minimum lease payments 47,808 87,021 196,853 

Present value of minimum lease payments:
Due not later than one year 20,675 51,314 121,328
Due later than one year and not later than five years 27,133 34,296 65,540
Due later than five years - 1,411 9,985

47,808 87,021 196,853 

Represented by:
Current liabilities 20,675 51,314 121,328
Non-current liabilities 27,133 35,707 75,525 

47,808 87,021 196,853 

14.2 Bank loans (secured) 

The Group 
Year of 2019 2018 1 April 2017

Loan Currency maturity $ $ $

(a) SGD *2019 421,651 421,651 421,651 
(b) SGD #2016 3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000 
(c) RM *2022 407,985 318,979 358,547 
(d) RMB 2020 5,726,000 - 608,100

9,555,636 3,740,630 4,388,298

(a) Interest is charged at the Local Enterprise Finance Scheme (“LEFS”) lending rate of 2.84% (2018 -
2.84%, 1 April 2017 - 2.87%) per annum. The bank loan is secured by:

(i) a mortgage over the Group’s investment properties (Note 5);
(ii) a corporate guarantee by the Company; and
(iii) a corporate guarantee by a subsidiary.

(b) Interest is charged at 2.45% (2018 - 2.45%, 1 April 2017 - 3.90%) per annum. The bank loan is secured
by a joint guarantee by the Company and a subsidiary.

(c) Interest is charged at 4.50% (2018 - 4.50%, 1 April 2017 - 4.45%) per annum. The bank loan is secured
by a corporate guarantee by a subsidiary and a mortgage over certain leasehold properties of the Group
(Note 4).

(d) Interest is charged at 7.11% (2018 - Nil%, 1 April 2017 - 6.80%) per annum. The bank loan is secured
by mortgage over one of the Group's investment properties (Note 5) and land use rights (Note 6).

The current interest rates charged by the lenders on the loans to subsidiaries are at market rates and are 
consistent with the borrowing costs of the subsidiaries without any corporate guarantees. 
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14 Borrowings (Cont’d) 

14.2 Bank loans (secured) (Cont’d) 

* As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s bank loans amounting to $174,361 (2018 - $402,680, 1 April 2017 -
$448,412), comprising Loan (a) of $Nil (2018 - $153,139, 1 April 2017 - $153,139) and Loan (c) of
$174,361 (2018 - $249,541, 1 April 2017 - $295,273), due to be settled more than 12 months after the end
of the reporting period are included in current liabilities because the bank loan agreements incorporate an
overriding repayment on demand clause, which gives the lenders the right to demand repayment at any
time, at their sole discretion and irrespective of whether a default event has occurred.

# The borrowings have expired on 31 December 2016. Consequently, the bank has sent out multiple
payment reminders.

14.3 Other borrowings 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group $ $ $

Trust receipts (secured) 674,757 1,160,033 1,966,344 
# Bills payable (secured) 2,953,506 1,750,840 2,120,282

3,628,263 2,910,873 4,086,626
#  Bank overdrafts (secured) (Note 11) 5,719,597 5,917,086 6,003,176

9,347,860 8,827,959 10,089,802

Other bank borrowings are secured by: 

(a) a first legal mortgage of the Group’s leasehold properties. (Note 4 );
(b) a debenture over a subsidiary’s present and future fixed and floating assets for $3,620,980 (2018 -

$3,679,030, 1 April 2017 - $3,442,220);
(c) a guarantee given by a subsidiary; and
(d) a guarantee given by the Company.

# The borrowings have expired on 31 December 2016. Consequently, the bank has sent out multiple
payment reminders.

14.4 Currency risk 

Borrowings are denominated in the following currencies: 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group $ $ $

Singapore Dollar 8,446,723 8,683,478 8,693,548 
United States Dollar 408,515 397,672 1,575,399 
Euro 102,229 108,664 103,049
Malaysian Ringgit 4,267,836 3,465,796 3,694,857 
Renminbi 5,726,001 - 608,100

18,951,304 12,655,610 14,674,953 
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14 Borrowings (Cont’d) 

14.5 Weighted average interest rates 

The weighted average interest rates of borrowings at the reporting date are as follows: 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group % per annum % per annum % per annum

Finance lease liabilities 2.8% 2.6% 2.4%
Bank loans (secured) 6.3% 5.5% 4.2%
Trust receipts (secured) 2.8% 3.8% 3.5%
Bills payable (secured) 4.9% 4.9% 4.6%
Bank overdrafts (secured) 6.5% 5.4% 5.3%

Please refer to Note 28 for details of liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency risks exposures. 

14.6 Carrying amounts and fair values 

The carrying amounts of current borrowings approximate their fair value. The carrying amounts and fair values 
of non-current borrowings are as follows: 

Carrying Fair
amounts values

The Group $ $

2019

Finance lease liabilities 27,133 17,794

2018

Finance lease liabilities 35,707 27,037

1 April 2017

Finance lease liabilities 75,525 63,724

15 Contract liabilities 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group $ $ $

(restated) (restated)

Non-current liabilities
Contract liabilities 469,418 1,765,098 41,535

Current liabilities
Contract liabilities 3,908,754 3,574,470 3,026,941

4,378,172 5,339,568 3,068,476

Contract liabilities relate primarily to 
a) Advance consideration received from customers
b) Advance rental from the tenant for the leasing of investment property; and
c) Membership subscription fees received in advance
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15 Contract liabilities (Cont’d) 

The Group offers memberships to customers under the “Lorenzo Friends” membership program which enable 
the customers to purchase goods at a discount at its retail outlets. The memberships are valid for a period of 
five years. The membership subscription fees, recognised as deferred income, are being amortised over the 
qualifying year of the membership. 

The contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group fulfils its performance obligation under the 
contract with the customer. The significant changes in the contract liabilities during the year are as follows: 

2019 2018
The Group $ $

Revenue recognised that was included in contract liabilities 
at the beginning of the year (2,039,217) (841,541)

Increases due to cash received, excluding amounts 
recognised as revenue during the year 1,077,821 3,112,633

The Company has contract liabilities of $Nil (2018 - $Nil, 1 April 2017 - $10,000) as at 31 March 2019. 

16 Deferred taxation 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group $ $ $

Deferred tax assets

Balance at beginning of year 44,487 12,169
Translation differences (456) (410)
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 22) (29,996) 32,728
Balance at end of year 14,035 44,487 12,169

The balances are attributable to the following: 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group $ $ $

Property, plant and equipment 14,035 44,487 12,169

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group $ $ $

Deferred tax liabilities

Balance at beginning of year 164,643 159,352
Translation differences - 68
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 22) (68,916) 5,223
Balance at end of year 95,727 164,643 159,352

The balances are attributable to the following: 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group $ $ $

Property, plant and equipment 9,957 9,957 12,168
Unremitted earnings of subsidiary 85,770 154,686 147,184

95,727 164,643 159,352

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are not expected to be recoverable/payable within the next 12 
months.  
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17 Trade and other payables 

The Company The Group
2019 2018 1 April 2017 2019 2018 1 April 2017

$ $ $ $ $ $
(restated) (restated)

Trade payables to third
parties - - - 2,810,479 3,225,222 4,118,515 

Other payables 1,229,707 1,023,489 552,790 5,205,596 7,814,837 4,871,974 
Amounts due to customers

for contracts work-in-
progress (Note 10) - - - - 109,993 -

Amounts due to subsidiaries
- non-trade 1,196,918 2,190,082 1,858,258 - - -

Accrued employee benefits 375,390 177,814 57,443 976,960 1,114,489 1,173,305
Accrued expenses 391,655 507,537 415,840 1,055,364 1,535,314 1,205,250
Interest payables - - - 735,097 427,642 147,665

3,193,670 3,898,922 2,884,331 10,783,496 14,227,497 11,516,709

Non-trade amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 

Trade and other payables of $380,656 (2018 - $772,674, 1 April 2017 - $759,167) of the Group and $91,878 
(2018 - $325,279, 1 April 2017 - $10,031) of the Company are amounts due from firms of which a director of 
the Company is a member.  

Trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies: 

The Company The Group
1 April 1 April

2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
$ $ $ $ $ $

(restated) (restated)

Singapore Dollar 3,193,670 3,898,922 2,884,331 5,600,803 6,032,254 5,885,134
United States Dollar - - - 720,511 929,725 453,487
Euro - - - 10,169 18,465 -
Malaysian Ringgit - - - 2,366,891 2,691,310 1,926,247
New Taiwan Dollar - - - 707,487 1,026,933 1,060,212
Renminbi - - - 1,377,635 3,528,810 2,191,629

3,193,670 3,898,922 2,884,331 10,783,496 14,227,497 11,516,709

Further details of liquidity risks and foreign currency risk on trade and other payables are disclosed in Note 28. 

18 Amount due to directors 

The amounts due to directors, comprise of amounts paid on behalf of the Company of $71,996 (2018 - $Nil, 1 
April 2017 - $151,715) and advances of $Nil (2018 - $Nil, 1 April 2017 – $130,000) granted to certain 
subsidiaries of the Group. These amounts due to directors are denominated in Singapore Dollar, interest-free, 
unsecured and repayable on demand. 

Further details of the Group’s financial risk management of liquidity risk exposures are set out in Note 28. 
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19 Other income 

The Group 2019 2018
$ $

Government grants 52,914 22,401
Interest income 4,086 3,182
Rental income 1,612,466 1,557,182
Sundry income 1,353,677 196,358
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 11,111 994,716
Gain on disposal of subsidiary (Note 7) - 3,143,338
Transportation income 139,370 391,956
Exchange gain, net 591,420 290,100
Negative goodwill (Note 7) - 296,100
Waiver of loans from Directors of subsidiary 374,358 -
Membership subscription fees 22,315 30,028

4,161,717 6,925,361

20 Finance costs 

2019 2018
The Group $ $

Interest expense
- finance leases 2,106 14,323
- bank loans 641,900 254,596
- trust receipts and bills payable 236,882 189,962
- bank overdrafts 387,049 386,711

1,267,937 845,592
Trade financing charges 26,236 52,091

1,294,173 897,683

21 Loss before taxation 

The following items have been included in arriving at loss before taxation: 

The Group 2019 2018
Note $ $

Included under “cost of sales”
Cost of inventories included in cost of sales 8 8,479,089 9,379,322
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 138,436 170,342
Staff costs (A) 1,034,587 1,388,878

Included under “distribution cost and administrative
expenses”
Operating lease expense 4,760,950 6,332,589
Workers retrenchment cost - 1,444,380
Directors’ fees 87,619 81,300
Staff costs (A) 6,805,004 8,441,657
Audit fees:
- auditors of the Company 187,809 302,020
- other auditors 48,604 47,961

Non-audit fees:
- auditors of the Company 23,500 63,100
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21 Loss before taxation (Cont’d) 

The following items have been included in arriving at loss before taxation (Cont’d): 

The Group 2019 2018
Note $ $

Included under “other operating expenses”
(Reversal of)/allowance for inventory obsolescence 8 (228,815) 3,010,535
Amortisation of land use rights 6 24,110 31,034
Bad debts written off - 35,497
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 459,963 1,187,162
Depreciation of investment properties 5 573,446 -
Inventories written off 8 20,311 345,957
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 4 517,892 306,834
Property, plant and equipment written off - 240,492
Impairment loss on trade receivables 10 1,918,751 1,760,494
Impairment loss on other receivables 10 - 916,571

1,918,751 2,677,065
A) Staff costs

Key management personnel - directors:
Directors’ remuneration other than fees
- salaries and other related costs 280,406 373,953
- Contributions to defined contribution plans 9,360 20,902

Key management personnel - other than directors
- salaries and other related costs 341,658 248,873
- Contributions to defined contribution plans 25,740 16,010

657,164 659,738
Other than key management personnel
- salaries, wages and other related costs 6,547,962 8,122,384
- Contributions to defined contribution plans 634,465 1,048,413

7,182,427 9,170,797
7,839,591 9,830,535

22 Tax expense 

The Group 2019 2018
$ $

Current tax expense
Current year 155,278 176,371
Adjustments for prior years 41,503 7

196,781 176,378

Deferred tax credit
Movements in temporary differences (38,920) (21,779)
Adjustment for prior years - (5,726)

(38,920) (27,505)

Withholding tax on overseas income 235,193 274,710
393,054 423,583
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22 Tax expense (Cont’d) 

The tax expense on the results of the financial year varies from the amount of income tax determined by 
applying the Singapore statutory rate of income tax on loss before taxation as a result of the following: 

The Group 2019 2018
$ $

Loss before taxation (5,434,550) (10,388,044)

Tax at domestic rates applicable to individual group entities (993,890) (1,905,426)
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses 1,656,622 1,175,538
Tax effect on non-taxable income (76,278) (28,576)
Deferred tax assets on temporary differences not recognised 272,368 1,335,948
Utilisation of deferred tax assets on temporary differences not 

recognised in prior years (718,887) (418,392)
Adjustment for prior years for current tax 41,503 7
Adjustment for prior years for deferred taxation - (5,726)
Tax incentives (23,577) (4,500)
Withholding tax on overseas income 235,193 274,710

393,054 423,583

The domestic tax rates applicable to the profit of the following companies are as follows: 

Country Rate Basis
Lorenzo International Limited Singapore 17.0% Full tax
Builders Shop Pte Ltd Singapore 17.0% Full tax
Uhin Holdings Pte Ltd Singapore 17.0% Full tax
Supreme Furnishing Centre Pte Ltd Singapore 17.0% Full tax
Lorenzo International (Kunshan) Co., Ltd. People’s Republic of China 25.0% Full tax
Lorenzo Furniture (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. People’s Republic of China 25.0% Full tax
Uhin Sofa Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 24.0% Full tax
Uhin International Co., Ltd. Republic of China (Taiwan) 20.0% Full tax

Unrecognised deferred tax assets 
At the reporting date the Group had unabsorbed tax losses of approximately $30 million (2018 - $33 million) 
attributable to certain subsidiaries. 

These unabsorbed tax losses of the Group are available for carry forward and set-off against future taxable 
income, subject to agreement by the tax authorities and compliance with certain provisions of the tax 
legislations of the respective countries in which the subsidiaries operate. Unabsorbed tax losses of 
approximately $7.6 million (2018 - $10 million) related to certain subsidiaries expire from 2019 through 2024. 

Deferred tax assets of approximately $5.9 million (2018 - $6.5 million and 1 April 2017 - $5.1 million) have not 
been recognised in respect of these tax losses because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the Group can utilise the benefits therefrom. 
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22 Tax expense (Cont’d) 

22.1 Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 

2019 2018
Disclosure of tax effect relating to

each component of other Before Tax Net Before Tax Net
comprehensive income: tax expense of tax tax expense of tax

$ $ $ $ $ $

Currency translation differences 46,422 - 46,422 98,710 - 98,710
46,422 - 46,422 98,710 - 98,710

23 Loss per share 

The Group 2019 2018
$ $

Loss attributable to owners of the Company (5,827,604) (10,811,627)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares issued during
the year 439,400,466 439,400,466

Loss per share (cents):
- basic (1.33) (2.46)
- diluted (1.33) (2.46)

Basic and diluted loss per share are calculated by dividing the loss for the year from continuing operations 
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the year. 

There is no dilutive loss per share as the Group incurred losses; the Company did not have any stock options 
or dilutive potential ordinary shares during the financial years ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018. 

24 Related party transactions 

Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following are related party transactions 
entered into by the Group with related parties on terms agreed between the parties during the financial year: 

The Group 2019 2018
$ $

Purchases from a firm of which a director of the Company 
is a member 19,218 140,278

Sales to
- a firm of which a director of the Company is a member 20,550 40,498

Expenses charged to a firm of which a director of the 
Company is a member 559 4,030

Expenses charged by a firm of which a director of the
Company is a member 27,107 408,415

Rental expense paid and payable to a firm of which a director 
of the Company is a member - 1,957,873
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25 Commitments 

Operating lease commitments (non-cancellable) 

A Where the Group is a lessee 

At the end of the reporting period, the Group was committed to making the following payments in respect of 
non-cancellable operating leases of showrooms and warehouse premises: 

2019 2018
The Group $ $

Not later than one year 2,453,212 2,598,794
Later than one year and not later than five years 1,186,002 1,224,633
Later than five years - -

These operating leases expire between December 2019 and July 2021 and contain renewal options. 

B Where the Group is a lessor 

At the reporting date, the Group had the following rental receivables under non-cancellable operating lease in 
respect of rental of office premise: 

2019 2018
The Group $ $

Not later than one year 264,000 300,000
Later than one year and not later than five years 77,000 -
Later than five years - -

This non-cancellable lease has remaining lease terms expires on 14 July 2020 and contains renewal options.
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26 Operating segments 

In the last financial period, the Group decided to monitor the operating results based on the nature of its 
business. Consequently, the Group has changed its presentation of segment reporting into 2 main segments, 
which the Group is primarily engaged in: 

(i) Furniture business; and
(ii) Building Materials

The Group Chief Executive Officer (“Group CEO”), who is designated as the Chief Operating Decision 
Maker, monitors the operating results of its operating segments for the purpose of making decisions about 
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on revenue and 
gross profit, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group CEO. 

Group financing, corporate expenses and income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to 
operating segments. 

The allocation of group assets and liabilities attributable to individual segments is not presented as the 
information is not provided to the Group CEO.  
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26 Operating segments (Cont’d) 

Revenue and non-current assets information based on geographical location of customers and assets 
respectively are as follows: 

The Group 2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Revenue

Singapore 2,439 4,144
Malaysia 13,072 11,067
Taiwan 13,403 15,147
China 151 589
Others - 899

29,065 31,846

The Group 2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Non-current assets

Singapore 1,666 1,657
Malaysia 4,049 4,225
Taiwan 412 560
China 7,336 8,599

13,463 15,041

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities: 

The Group 2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Revenue

Total revenue for reportable segments 29,065 31,846
Consolidated revenue 29,065 31,846

Profit or loss

Total loss for reportable segments (4,141) (9,490)
Finance costs (1,294) (898)
Consolidated loss before tax (5,435) (10,388)

The Group 2019 2018
$’000 $’000

Segment assets
Total assets for reportable segments 26,518 36,312
Elimination  - (6,031)
Tax recoverable 496 642
Deferred tax assets 14 44
Consolidated total assets 27,028 30,967

Segment liabilities
Total liabilities for reportable segments 34,184 35,218
Elimination - (2,996)
Current tax payable 78 129
Deferred tax liabilities 96 165
Consolidated total liabilities 34,358 32,516

There is no revenue from any single customer contributing over 10% of total sales of the Group. 
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27 Contingencies 

The Company 

Contingent liability 
In August 2013, a suit was brought against the Company’s subsidiary, Builders Shop Pte Ltd, together with 
several other defendants, including the main contractor and sub-contractor of the subsidiary, in respect of 
injuries allegedly caused by debris from a fallen granite slab from a building in 2011. The subsidiary’s main 
contractor and sub-contractor completed installation of granite slabs on the facade of the building in 1997. The 
plaintiff is seeking damages of $2.4 million from the subsidiary and other defendants jointly and severally. In 
accordance with the agreement, the main contractor and sub-contractor should be responsible for work 
defects. The Company is contesting the claim rigorously. The former shareholder of the subsidiary has 
provided an undertaking in writing to the Company for an amount of up to $5 million for all actual and proven 
damages arising from the claim by the plaintiff. Based on the confirmation received from the legal counsel of 
the Company, the legal case has been concluded. The sum of damages to be paid and the timing of the liability 
has yet to be determined by the court. 

Based on a review of the matter and in the light of the advice of the Company’s legal counsel, the directors are 
of the view that no material losses will arise in respect of the legal suit on the amount of undertaking of $5 
million would be sufficient to cover for any loss. 

28 Financial risk management 

The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial instruments. The 
key financial risks included credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, market price risk and liquidity 
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimise adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial markets on the Group’s financial 
performance. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes or to 
hedge against fluctuations, if any, in interest rates and foreign exchange. 

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages 
and measures the risk. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the 
Group to incur a financial loss.  

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables. For trade receivables, 
the Group adopts the policy of dealing only with customers of appropriate credit history, and obtaining 
sufficient security where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. For other financial asset, the Group adopt the 
policy of dealing only with high credit quality counterparties. 

The Group’s objective is to seek continual growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased credit risk 
exposure. 

Credit exposure to an individual corporate counterparty is restricted by credit limits that are approved by the 
executive directors based on ongoing credit evaluation. The counterparty’s payment profile and credit 
exposure are continuously monitored at the entity level by the respective management and at the group level 
by the executive directors. In addition, receivable balances and payment profile of the debtors are monitored 
on an on-going basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. 

The Group applies the SFRS(I) 9 expected credit losses which uses either a 12-month or a lifetime expected 
credit losses depending on the level of credit risk to measuring loss allowance for all trade receivables, and 
other financial assets.  
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28 Financial risk management (Cont’d) 

Credit risk (Cont’d) 
The Group and Company apply the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a 
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. For all other financial assets, the Group and 
Company apply the general approach. 

As at the reporting date, there were indicators of impairment as the Company’s subsidiaries incurred losses for 
the past few years. Management did not perform an assessment of impairment to determine the expected 
credit losses on net the amounts due from subsidiaries of $1,058,290 (2018 - $3,852,310, 1 April 2017 - 
$5,141,886). 

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements, the identified impairment 
loss was immaterial. 

Concentration of credit risk relating to trade receivables is limited due to the Group’s many varied customers 
who are internationally dispersed. The Group’s historical experience in the collection of accounts receivable 
falls within the recorded allowances. Due to these factors, management believes that no additional credit risk 
beyond amounts provided for collection losses is inherent in the Group’s trade receivables. 

The carrying amounts of financial assets in the statements of financial position represent the Group and the 
Company’s respective maximum exposure to credit risk, before taking into account any collateral held. 

The Group has no significant debtor (2018 and 1 April 2017 - 2 debtors that represent 71% and 79% of trade 
receivables respectively). 

Exposure to credit risk 
As the Company and the Group do not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk for each class 
of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial instruments presented on the statement 
of financial position, except as follows: 

(i) At 31 March 2019, the Company has provided guarantees to banks in respect of loan facilities granted
to subsidiaries amounting to $7 million (2018 - $7.3 million, 1 April 2017 - $6.2 million).

(ii) At 31 March 2019, the Company and a subsidiary have provided a joint guarantee to a bank in respect
of a loan facility granted to subsidiaries amounting to $6.1 million (2018 - $5.3 million, 1 April 2017 -
$6.1 million).

The Group’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-owned subsidiaries. The maximum 
exposure of the Company in respect of the intra-group financial guarantee at the reporting date is if the facility 
is drawn down by the subsidiary in the amount of $13.2 million (2018 - $12.6 million, 1 April 2017 - $12.3 
million). At the reporting date, the Company does not consider it probable that a claim will be made against 
the Company under the intra-group financial guarantee. 

The Company’s and the Group’s major classes of financial assets are bank deposits and trade and other 
receivables. The cash and cash equivalents are held with banks of good credit ratings. Further details of credit 
risks on trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 10.  
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28 Financial risk management (Cont’d) 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from its variable rate bank balances, fixed deposits 
and borrowings which are contractually repriced at intervals of less than 6 months (2018 - less than 6 months).  

The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available without increasing its interest rate 
exposure. 

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk 
A 30 (2018 - 30) basis points (bp) change in the interest rate of variable rate bank balances and fixed deposits 
and a 75 (2018 - 75) basis points (bp) change in the interest rate of variable rate borrowings at the reporting 
date would have increased/decreased equity and profit or loss before tax by the amounts shown below. The 
magnitude represents management’s assessment of the likely movement in interest rates under normal 
economic conditions. This analysis has not taken into account the associated tax effects and assumes that all 
other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. 

Loss before tax - Equity -
(increase)/decrease increase/(decrease)

30bp/75bp 30bp/75bp 30bp/75bp 30bp/75bp
The Group Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

$ $ $

31 March 2019
Variable rate fixed deposits 148 (148) 148 (148)
Variable rate borrowings (71,667) 71,667 (71,667) 71,667

(71,519) 71,519 (71,519) 71,519

31 March 2018
Variable rate fixed deposits 147 (147) 147 (147)
Variable rate borrowings (28,055) 28,055 (28,055) 28,055

(27,908) 27,908 (27,908) 27,908

Foreign currency risk  
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. Currency risk arises when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies. 

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than 
the respective functional currencies of Group entities.  

The Group does not use any financial derivatives such as foreign currency forward contracts, foreign currency 
options or swaps for hedging purposes. 
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28 Financial risk management (Cont’d) 

Foreign currency risk (Cont’d) 
Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk 
A 5% strengthening of the above currencies against the respective functional currencies of the Group 
entities at year ended would have increased/decreased loss before tax and increased/decreased equity by the 
amounts shown below. This analysis has not taken into account the associated tax effects and assumes that 
all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 

Increase/(Decrease)
---------2019-------- ---------2018--------
Loss Loss

before tax Equity before tax Equity
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Group
United States dollar 56 (56) 64 (64)
Euro 6 (6) 6 (6)
Malaysian Ringgit 258 (258) 208 (208)
New Taiwan Dollar (7) 7 (26) 26
Renminbi 331 (331) 162 (162)

Similarly, a 5% weakening would have the equal but opposite effect. 

Market price risk 
Market price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market 
prices. 

The Group does not hold any quoted or marketable financial instruments, hence, is not exposed to any 
movement in market prices. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company and the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet 
commitments associated with financial instruments that are settled by delivering cash or another financial 
asset.  Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to its fair value.  

The Company’s and the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the 
maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Company’s and the Group’s objective are to maintain a 
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities. 

The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Company’s and the Group’s and financial liabilities 
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows, including estimated interest payments: 

-----------Contractual undiscounted cash flows----------
Carrying Less than Between 1 Over
amount Total 1 year and 5 years 5 years

The Group $ $ $ $ $

31 March 2019
Trade and other payables 10,783,496 10,783,496 10,783,496 - -
Amount owing to Directors 71,996 71,996 71,996 - -
Borrowings 18,951,304 18,959,356 18,752,181 207,175 -

29,806,796 29,814,848 29,607,673 207,175 -
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28 Financial risk management (Cont’d) 

Liquidity risk (Cont’d) 

-----------Contractual undiscounted cash flows----------
Carrying Less than Between 1 Over
amount Total 1 year and 5 years 5 years

The Group $ $ $ $ $

31 March 2018
Trade and other payables 14,227,497 14,227,497 14,227,497 - -
Borrowings 12,655,610 12,701,618 12,379,128 320,780 1,710

26,883,107 26,929,115 26,606,625 320,780 1,710

1 April 2017
Trade and other payables 11,516,709 11,516,709 11,516,709 - -
Amount due to directors 281,715 281,715 281,715 - -
Borrowings 14,674,953 14,771,739 14,351,101 408,560 12,078 

26,473,377 26,570,163 26,149,525 408,560 12,078 

-----------Contractual undiscounted cash flows----------
Carrying Less than Between 1 Over
amount Total 1 year and 5 years 5 years

The Company $ $ $ $ $

31 March 2019
Financial guarantee contracts 13,200,000 13,200,000 13,200,000 - -
Trade and other payables 3,193,670 3,193,670 3,193,670 - -

16,393,670 16,393,670 16,393,670 - -

31 March 2018
Financial guarantee contracts 12,600,000 12,600,000 12,600,000 - -
Trade and other payables 3,898,922 3,898,922 3,898,922 - -

16,498,922 16,498,922 16,498,922 - -

1 April 2017
Financial guarantee contracts 12,300,000 12,300,000 12,300,000 - -
Trade and other payables 2,884,331 2,884,331 2,884,331 - -

15,184,331 15,184,331 15,184,331 - -

Subject to the going concern assumption in Note 2(a), the Company and the Group ensure that there are 
adequate funds to meet all its obligations in a timely and cost-effective manner. The Company and the 
Group maintains sufficient level of cash and cash equivalents and has available adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities from financial institutions to meet its working capital requirements. 
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29 Financial instruments 

Accounting classifications of financial assets and financial liabilities 

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities in each category are as follows: 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group Note $ $ $

Financial assets
At amortised cost/ loan and receivables

Trade and other receivables (current) 9 2,967,265 5,428,933 7,018,605 
Other receivables (non-current) 9 - 121,179 143,539
Cash and bank balances 11 923,582 1,586,213 1,592,914

3,890,847 7,136,325 8,755,058 

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost/ loan and receivables

Borrowings 14 18,951,304 12,655,610 14,674,953 
Amount due to directors 18 71,996 - 281,715
Trade and other payables 17 10,783,496 14,227,497 11,516,709

29,806,796 26,883,107 26,473,377

The Company

Financial assets
At amortised cost/ loan and receivables

Other receivables 9 1,089,136 3,881,999 5,306,218 
Cash and bank balances 11 4,687 3,160 8,122

1,093,823 3,885,159 5,314,340 

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost

Trade and other payables 17 3,193,670 3,898,922 2,884,331

Reclassification of financial instruments on adoption of SFRS(I) 9 

On date of initial application, 1 April 2018, the “Loans and receivables” of the Group and the Company are 
now classified as “financial assets at amortised cost’’ under SFRS(I) 9. 

30 Fair value measurement 

Definition of fair value 
FRSs define fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

Fair values of financial instruments  

Fair value hierarchy 
Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are 
grouped into three Levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three Levels are defined based on the observability 
of significant inputs to the measurements, as follows: 

Level 1 : quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 :  inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (as is prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 

Level 3 : inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market date. 
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30 Fair value measurement (Cont’d) 

Financial instruments measured at amortised cost 

Borrowings 
The carrying amounts of borrowings approximate their fair values as they bear interest at rates which 
approximate the current incremental borrowing rate for similar types of lending and borrowing 
arrangements, refer to Note 14.5. 

Other financial assets and liabilities 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year (including trade 
and other receivables, cash and bank balances and trade and other payables) approximate their fair values 
because of the short year to maturity. 

Fair value measurement of non-financial assets 

Investment properties (Note 5) , leasehold properties (Note 4) and land-use-rights (Note 6) 
The fair value of non-financial assets included in (Level 3 hierarchy) is determined as follows:- 

Valuation technique Significant unobservable
inputs

Inter-relationship between key unobservable inputs
and fair value measurement

Direct comparison method - Price per square meter
- Expected average rental

growth
- Capitalisation rate

The estimated fair value would increase /(decrease) if:
- Price per square meter was higher/(lower);
- Expected average rental growth was higher/(lower);

- Capitalisation rate was lower/(higher).

31 Capital management 

The Group's objectives when managing capital are: 

(a) To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern;
(b) To support the Group's stability and growth;
(c) To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Group's risk management capability; and
(d) To provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group defines capital as shareholders’ equity. The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital 
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future 
capital requirements of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected profitability, projected 
operating cash flows, projected capital expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities. The 
Group currently does not adopt any formal dividend policy. 

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. 

Except for compliance with the statutory common reserve and capital reserve requirement by subsidiaries in 
PRC and ROC (Note 13), the Company and its subsidiaries are not subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements. 

The directors monitor capital based on the net debt to total equity ratio. Net debt comprises total external 
borrowings less cash and bank balances. Net asset comprises total equity. 
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31 Capital management (Cont’d) 

2019 2018 1 April 2017
The Group $ $ $

Total external borrowings 18,951,304 12,655,610 14,674,953 
Less: Cash and bank balances (923,582) (1,586,213) (1,592,914)
Net debt 18,027,722 11,069,397 13,082,039 

Total equity (7,330,087) (1,548,905) 9,325,266 

Net debt to total equity ratio (times) n.m. n.m. 1.40

n.m. – not meaningful

32 Adoption of new accounting standards 

The Group has adopted a new financial reporting framework, Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(International) SFRS(I) which became effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.  
The application of SFRS(I) has no material effect on the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 
March 2019, except as described below: 

(1) Adoption of SFRS(I) 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

SFRS(I) 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers establishes a framework for determining when and
how to recognise revenue. The objective of the standard is to establish the principles that an entity shall
apply to report useful information about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash
flows arising from a contract with a customer. It established a new five-step model that will apply to
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under this standard, revenue is recognised at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring
goods and services to a customer.

The application of SFRS(I) 15 has no material effect and does not require adjustments to the financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

Reclassifications and comparative figures

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year’s financial statements to enhance comparability
with the current year’s financial statements following the Group and the Company’s adoption of the
SFRS(I)s that became effective during the year.

As a result, certain line items relating to contract liabilities have been amended in the statements of
financial position and the related notes to the financial statements. Comparative figures have been
adjusted to conform to the current year’s presentation arising from the adoption of SFRS(I) 15.

The following tables show the adjustments recognised for each individual line item. Line items that were
not affected by the changes have not been included. As a result, the sub-totals and totals disclosed
cannot be recalculated from the numbers provided.
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32 Adoption of new accounting standards (Cont’d) 

(1) Adoption of SFRS(I) 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Cont’d)

Reclassifications and comparative figures (Cont’d)

Note 2018 2018
Statement of financial position as reported Reclassification as restated

$ $ $
The Group

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 9

Trade receivables – third parties 7,355,095 (9,459) 7,345,636
Contract assets - 9,459 9,459

Non-current liabilities
Deferred income 1,765,098 (1,765,098) -
Contract liabilities 15 - 1,765,098 1,765,098

Current liabilities
Deferred income 1,119,344 (1,119,344) -
Trade and other payables 17 16,682,623 (2,455,126) 14,227,497
Contract liabilities 15 - 3,574,470 3,574,470

1 April 2017 1 April 2017
Statement of financial position as reported Reclassification as restated

$ $ $
The Group

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 9

Trade receivables – third parties 8,012,808 (10,689) 8,002,119
Contract assets - 10,689 10,689

Non-current liabilities
Deferred income 41,535 (41,535) -
Contract liabilities 15 - 41,535 41,535

Current liabilities
Deferred income 40,766 (40,766) -
Trade and other payables 17 14,502,884 (2,986,175) 11,516,709
Contract liabilities 15 - 3,026,941 3,026,941

Adjustments relate to: 
(i) Reclassification of advances from customers and deferred income being unearned revenue arising

from contract with customers as "contract liabilities"
(ii) Reclassification of unbilled receivables upon delivery of goods which have yet to be invoiced to

customers as "contract assets"
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32 Adoption of new accounting standards (Cont’d) 

(2) Adoption of SFRS(I) 9, Financial Instruments

SFRS(I) 9 is effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Group has elected to
apply the short-term exemption under SFRS(I) 1, which exempt the Group from applying SFRS(I) 9 to
comparative information. Accordingly, requirements of FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement will continue to apply to financial instruments up to the financial year ended 31 December
2017.

SFRS(I) 9 introduces new requirements for classification and measurement of financial instruments,
impairment of financial assets, and hedge accounting. SFRS(I) 9 also introduces expanded disclosure
requirements and changes in presentation.

The application of SFRS(I) 9 has no material effect and does not require adjustments to the financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

(3) Reclassification of comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current year’s presentation. 

Note 2018 2018
Statement of financial position as reported Reclassification as restated

$ $ $
The Group

Trade and other payables 17
Accrued expenses 1,962,956 (427,642) 1,535,314
Interest payables - 427,642 427,642

1 April 2017 1 April 2017
Statement of financial position as reported Reclassification as restated

$ $ $
The Group

Trade and other payables 17
Accrued expenses 1,352,915 (147,665) 1,205,250
Interest payables - 147,665 147,665

2018 2018
Statement of cash flows as reported Reclassification as restated

$ $ $
The Group

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Inventories written off - 345,957 345,957
Allowance for inventory obsolescence - 3,010,535 3,010,535
Change in inventories 5,376,458 (3,356,492) 2,019,966
Change in trade and other payables 4,055,381 (3,038,514) 1,016,867
Change in contract liabilities - 2,758,537 2,758,537
Interest paid (845,592) 279,977 (565,615)

33 Events after end of reporting period 

On 15 July 2019, the Group entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement for the disposal of its 
entire shareholding in Lorenzo International (Kunshan) Co., Ltd to its existing tenant, Shanghai Kunhao 
Wood Industry Co. Ltd for a consideration of RMB 88 million. The proposed disposal is conditional upon 
the approval of the relevant authority and shareholders. 
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SHAREHOLDING
STATISTICS
AS OF 31 JANUARY 2020

ISSUED AND FULLY PAID CAPITAL: $41,737,570
TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES IN ISSUE: 439,400,466
CLASS OF SHARES: Ordinary shares fully paid
VOTING RIGHTS: One vote for each ordinary share
NO. OF TREASURY SHARES AND PERCENTAGE: There are no treasury shares held in the issued share capital of the 
Company.
NO. OF SUBSIDIARY HOLDINGS HELD AND PERCENTAGE:  Nil

Distribution of Shareholdings

Top 20 largest shareholders as at 31 December 2019

No. Name No. of Shares %
1 DING LEI 125,600,000 28.59
2 BD CORPORATION PTE LTD 45,579,800 10.37

3 CHIANG TIN TIAH 21,000,000 4.78
4 HUANG SHUZHEN 21,000,000 4.78
5 CHUNG KIM YEW 20,493,200 4.66
6 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 19,271,150 4.39
7 LYE KIM CHYE 17,933,800 4.08
8 GOH SOON KHIAN 8,695,600 1.98
9 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD 6,691,400 1.52
10 JI YANPENG 6,200,000 1.41
11 TOH SOON HUAT 5,923,000 1.35
12 TAN KENG KOK 5,815,000 1.32
13 CHENG YE 5,309,200 1.21
14 GOH AH LEE 4,217,000 0.96
15 CHEN MEI YING 3,548,054 0.81
16 SIOW CHEE MENG 3,450,500 0.79

Size of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %
1-99 130 11.26 1,739 0.00
100-1,000 105 9.09 87,012 0.02
1,001-10,000 218 18.87 1,320,546 0.30
10,001-1,000,000 668 57.84 83,057,804 18.90
1,000,001 and above 34 2.94 354,933,365 80.78
TOTAL 1155 100.00 439,400,466 100.00
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No. Name No. of Shares %
17 SEE MEI LI 3,305,900 0.75
18 CHUNG YOOK FONG 3,248,000 0.74
19 YAN XIU YUN 2,812,600 0.64
20 CHUNG KAM SENG 2,695,000 0.61

TOTAL 332,789,204 75.74

Substantial Shareholders (other than Directors)

No. Name No. of Shares % Deemed Interest
(No. of shares)

%

1 DING LEI 125,600,000 28.59 - -
2 BD CORPORATION PTE LTD 45,579,800 10.37 - -
3 LIM PANG HERN(i) 959,500 0.22 45,579,800 10.37

Notes:
i.	 Lim Pang Hern is deemed to be interested in the 45,579,800 Shares held by BD Corporation Pte Ltd as he holds 100% shareholding interest in BD  
	 Corporation Pte Ltd.

Shareholdings held in the hand of public
Based on information available to the Company at 31 January 2020, approximately 55.35% of the issued ordinary 
shares of the Company is held by the public. Accordingly, Rule 723 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual has been complied 
with. 
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NOTICE OF
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fourteenth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at 23 Neythal 
Road Blk B #04-03 Singapore 628588 on 3 March 2020, Tuesday at 10.30a.m to transact the following business:

No. Ordinary Businesses Resolution
1. To receive and adopt the Audited Accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 

2019 together with the Directors’ Statement and the Auditors’ Report of the Company. Resolution 1
2. To re-elect as a Director, Mr Ding Lei, who is retiring under Article 90 of the Company’s 

Constitution:

Mr Ding Lei will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as an Executive 
Director, Chairman of the Board and member of the Nominating Committees. Resolution 2

3. To re-elect as a Director, Mr Marcelo Mora, who is retiring under Article 90 of the 
Company’s Constitution. 

Mr Marcelo Mora will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as an 
Independent Director, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and member of the 
Audit and Nominating Committees. Resolution 3

4. To re-elect as a Director, Mr Jimmy Soh King Bin who is retiring under Article 96 of the 
Company’s Constitution and who, being eligible, is offering himself for re-election as 
a Director. 

Mr Jimmy Soh King Bin will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain 
as an Independent Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and member of the 
Nominating and Remuneration Committees. Resolution 4

5. To re-elect as a Director, Mr Soh Chun Bin who is retiring under Article 96 of the 
Company’s Constitution and who, being eligible, is offering himself for re-election 
as a Director. 

Mr Soh Chun Bin will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as an 
Independent Director, Chairman of the Nominating Committee and member of the 
Audit and Remuneration Committees. Resolution 5

6. To approve the payment of directors’ fees of S$81,000 for the financial year ending 31 
March 2020 to be paid quarterly in arrears. Resolution 6

7. To re-appoint Messrs Foo Kon Tan LLP as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise 
the Directors to fix their remuneration. Resolution 7

8. To transact any other business that may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.
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Special Business Resolution

9. To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an Ordinary 
Resolution, with or without modifications:

“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the 
Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the 
Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to:

(a)   (i)    issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or   
               otherwise; and/or 

(ii)	 make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively “Instruments”) 
that might or would require shares to be issued, including but not limited 
to the creation or issue of (as well as adjustments to) options, warrants, 
debentures or other instruments convertible into shares, at any time and 
upon such terms and conditions, for such purposes and to such persons as 
the Directors of the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b)	 (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to 
be in force) issue shares in pursuant to any Instruments made or granted by the 
Directors of the Company while this Resolution was in force, provided always 
that:

(i)	 the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuant 
of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) to be 
issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed 50% of the total number 
of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company 
(as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) below), of which the 
aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to 
the Shareholders of the Company shall not exceed 20% of the total number 
of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company 
(as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) below);

(ii)	 (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the 
purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued 
under sub-paragraph (i) above, the total number of issued shares (excluding 
treasury shares) shall be based on the total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares) in the Company at the time of the passing of 
this Resolution, after adjusting for:
(aa)	 new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible 

securities;
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By Order of the Board
Ding Lei 
Executive Director and Chairman
17 February 2020

Special Business (Cont’d) Resolution

9 (bb)	 new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share 
awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing 
of this Resolution; and

(cc)	 any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(iii)	 in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall 
comply with the provisions of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST for the time 
being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and 
the Articles in the Company’s Constitution; and

(iv)	 unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such 
authority shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is 
the earlier.”

[See Explanation Note 1] Resolution 8
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Explanatory Notes:
1.    The Ordinary Resolution 8 in item 9 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion of the next 

Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held or 
such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant Instruments 
convertible into shares and to issue shares pursuant to such Instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total, 50% of the total number 
of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis 
to shareholders.

      For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) will be 
calculated based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time this Ordinary 
Resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share options or 
vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time when this Ordinary Resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus 
issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.

Notes:
1) 	 A member entitled to attend and vote at the Fourteenth Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies (not more than two) 

to attend and vote on his/her behalf, save that no limit shall be imposed on the number of proxies for nominee companies. A proxy need not 
be a member of the Company.

2)	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his/her attorney duly authorised in writing. Where 
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an 
officer or attorney duly authorised.

3)	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 23 Neythal Road Block B #04-03 
Singapore 628588 at least forty-eight (48) hours before the time fixed for the Fourteenth Annual General Meeting.

Personal Data Privacy: 
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting and/or any 
adjournment thereof, or by attending the Annual General Meeting, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of 
the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of 
proxies and representatives appointed for the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation 
of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and in order 
for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) 
warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), 
the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company 
(or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify 
the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty. In 
addition, by attending the Annual General Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company consents to the collection, use and 
disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for any of the Purposes. 
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PROXY FORM 
FOURTEENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

or failing *him/her, the Chairman of the Fourteenth Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”), as my/our proxy/
proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Fourteenth Annual General Meeting of the Company, to be 
held at 23 Neythal Road Blk B #04-03 Singapore 628588 on 3 March 2020, Tuesday at 10.30a.m., and at any 
adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions to be proposed 
at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies will vote 
or abstain from voting at his/their discretion, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the Meeting.

Name Address NRIC/ 
Passport No.

Proportion of my/ our 
shareholding (%)

No. of Shares %

Name Address NRIC/ 
Passport No.

Proportion of my/ our 
shareholding (%)

No. of Shares %

and/ or (delete as appropriate)

I/We 
(Name) of
(Address)
being a member/ members of Lorenzo International Limited (the “Company”) hereby appoint

Proxy Form No.

OF

LORENZO INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration No.: 200508277C)

No. Ordinary Resolutions Relating To: For Against
Ordinary Businesses

1 Adoption of Accounts
2 Re-election of Mr Ding Lei
3 Re-election of Mr Marcelo Mora
4 Re-election of Mr Jimmy Soh King Bin
5 Re-election of Mr Soh Chun Bin
6 Approval of directors’ fees 
7 Re-appointment of Auditors
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(If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with “X” 
within the box provided. Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes as appropriate.)

Dated this _______  day of  ______________ 2020.

_______________________________________
Signature of Shareholder(s) or Common Seal
Important: Please read notes overleaf

IMPORTANT:
1.	 This Annual Report is also forwarded to investors who have used their CPF monies to buy shares in the Company at the request of their 

CPF Approved Nominees, and is sent solely for their information only.
2.	 This Proxy Form is therefore, not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported 

to be used by them.
3.	 If you are a member of this company having a share capital who is a relevant intermediary (a nominal company), you may appoint 

more than 2 proxies to attend or vote in your stead. If you wish to appoint more than 2 proxies, you may complete, number and attach 
additional copies of this form. You must on each form state the number of shares the proxy is representing. If no number is inserted, the 
appointment would be considered to be invalid. 

No. Ordinary Resolutions Relating To: For Against
Special Business

8 Authority to allot and issue new shares

Number of Shares held in
CDP Register
Member’s Register
TOTAL
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FOURTEENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notes:
1.	 Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined 

in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act, Cap. 289), you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares registered in your 
name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares registered in your name in the Depository 
Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered 
against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2.	 (a)	 A member who is not a relevant intermediary (as defined in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50) is entitled to appoint not more 
than two proxies to attend, speak and vote on his/her behalf at the Meeting. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he/she 
shall specify the proportion of his/her shares to be represented by each such proxy, failing which the nomination shall be deemed 
to be alternative.

	 (b)	 A member who is a relevant intermediary (as defined in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50) is entitled to appoint more than 
two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the Meeting, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different 
share or shares held by such member. Where such member’s form of proxy appoints more than two proxies, the number and class 
of shares in relation to which each proxy has been appointed shall be specified in the form of proxy.

3.	 A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

4.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 23 Neythal Road Block B #04-03 
Singapore 628588, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for the Meeting.

5.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where 
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its common seal or under the 
hand of its attorney or a duly authorised officer.

6.	 Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter of power of attorney or a duly 
certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy; failing which the 
instrument may be treated as invalid.

7.	 A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act 
as its representative at the meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

8.	 The submission of an instrument or form appointing a proxy by a member of the Company does not preclude him from attending and 
voting in person at the Annual General Meeting if he is able to do so. 

9.	 The Company shall be entitled to reject a Proxy Form which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true intentions of 
the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on the Proxy Form. In addition, in the case of shares 
entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject a Proxy Form if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares 
entered against his name in the Depository Register as at seventy-two (72) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as 
certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

10.	 An investor who buys shares using CPF monies (“CPF Investor”) and/or SRS monies (“SRS Investor”) (as may be applicable) may attend 
and cast his vote(s) at the Meeting in person. CPF and SRS Investors who are unable to attend the Meeting but would like to vote, may 
inform their CPF and/or SRS Approved Nominees to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting to act as their proxy, in which case, the CPF and 
SRS Investors shall be precluded from attending the Meeting.

11.	 By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal data 
privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting. 
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